
 
Chief Executive   
Ian Davidson  
 
 

www.tendringdc.gov.uk 
Minicom: 01255 475566  

 
 
 
 
 

 
IAN DAVIDSON, CHIEF EXECUTIVE, TOWN HALL, STATION ROAD, CLACTON-ON-SEA, ESSEX, CO15 1SE.  TELEPHONE (01255) 686868 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: Thursday, 15 February 2024 

TIME: 5.00 pm 

 

VENUE: Committee Room  - Town Hall, 
Station Road, Clacton-on-Sea, CO15 
1SE 

 

 
 
MEMBERSHIP: 
 

 

Councillor Fowler (Chairman) 
Councillor White (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Alexander 
Councillor M Cossens 
Councillor Everett 
 

Councillor McWilliams 
Councillor Placey 
Councillor Sudra 
Councillor Wiggins 
 

 

AG
EN

D
A

Public Document Pack

http://www.tendringdc.gov.uk/


 Most Council meetings are open to the public and press. The space for the public 
and press will be made available on a first come first served basis. Agendas are 
available to view five working days prior to the meeting date and the Council 
aims to publish Minutes within five working days of the meeting. Meeting papers 
can be provided, on request, in large print, in Braille, or on disc, tape, or in other 
languages. 
 
This meeting will be filmed by the Council for live and/or subsequent broadcast 
on the Council’s website. The whole of the meeting will be filmed, except where 
there are confidential or exempt items, and the footage will be on the website for 
up to 24 months (the Council retains one full year of recordings and the relevant 
proportion of the current Municipal Year). The Council will seek to 
avoid/minimise footage of members of the public in attendance at, or 
participating in the meeting.In addition, the Council is obliged by law to allow 
members of the public to take photographs, film, audio-record, and report on the 
proceedings at public meetings. The Council will only seek to prevent this should 
it be undertaken in a disruptive or otherwise inappropriate manner. 
 
If you have any queries regarding webcasting or the recording of meetings by the 
public, please contact Democratic Services on 
democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk.  
 

 

 
 

 DATE OF PUBLICATION: Wednesday, 7 February 2024  

mailto:democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk


AGENDA 
 
  
1 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions  
 
 The Committee is asked to note any apologies for absence and substitutions received 

from Members. 
  

2 Minutes of the Last Meeting (Pages 1 - 8) 
 
 To confirm and sign as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting of the Committee, 

held on Tuesday, 16 January 2024.  
  

3 Declarations of Interest  
 
 Councillors are invited to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, Other 

Registerable Interests of Non-Registerable Interests, and the nature of it, in relation to 
any item on the agenda. 
  

4 Questions on Notice pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 38  
 
 Subject to providing two working days’ notice, a Member of the Committee may ask the 

Chairman of the Committee a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has 
powers or duties which affect the Tendring District and which falls within the terms of 
reference of the Committee. 
  

5 Report of the Director (Planning) - A.1 - 23/01265/FUL - Coppins Hall Community 
Centre, Maldon Way, Clacton-on-Sea, CO16 7PA (Pages 9 - 16) 

 
 Temporary siting of storage container. (Retrospective application).  

  
6 Report of the Director (Planning) - A.2 - 23/01418/FUL - Braham Hall Farm, Bentley 

Road, Little Bromley, CO11 2PS (Pages 17 - 40) 
 
 Erection of two dwellings. (In lieu of prior approval for the conversion of an agricultural 

building into two dwellings 23/00549/COUNOT). 
  

7 Report of the Director (Planning) - A.3 - 23/01601/FUL - The Naze Pennisular Old, 
Hall Lane, Walton-on-the-Naze, CO14 8LG (Pages 41 - 56) 

 
 Proposed modification to access arrangement to allow access to foreshore as result of 

erosion.  
 

 
 



 
Date of the Next Scheduled Meeting 
 
The next scheduled meeting of the Planning Committee is to be held in the Committee 
Room  - Town Hall, Station Road, Clacton-on-Sea, CO15 1SE at 5.00 pm on Tuesday, 
12 March 2024. 
 

 

INFORMATION FOR VISITORS 
 

 
PUBLIC ATTENDANCE AT PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

 
Welcome to this evening’s meeting of Tendring District Council’s Planning Committee. 

 
This is an open meeting which members of the public can attend to see Councillors 
debating and transacting the business of the Council. However, please be aware that, 
unless you have registered to speak under the Public Speaking Scheme, members of the 
public are not entitled to make any comment or take part in the meeting. You are also 
asked to behave in a respectful manner at all times during these meetings.  

 
Members of the public do have the right to film or record Committee meetings subject to the 
provisions set out below:- 
 
Rights of members of the public to film and record meetings  

 
Under The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, which came into 
effect on 6 August 2014, any person is permitted to film or record any meeting of the 
Council, a Committee, Sub-Committee or the Cabinet, unless the public have been 
excluded from the meeting for the consideration of exempt or confidential business.  

 
Members of the public also have the right to report meetings using social media (including 
blogging or tweeting). 
 
The Council will provide reasonable facilities to facilitate reporting. 

 
Public Behaviour 

 
Any person exercising the rights set out above must not disrupt proceedings. Examples of 
what will be regarded as disruptive, include, but are not limited to: 

 
(1) Moving outside the area designated for the public; 

(2) Making excessive noise; 

(3) Intrusive lighting/flash; or 

(4) Asking a Councillor to repeat a statement. 

In addition, members of the public or the public gallery should not be filmed as this could 
infringe on an individual’s right to privacy, if their prior permission has not been obtained. 

 
Any person considered being disruptive or filming the public will be requested to cease 
doing so by the Chairman of the meeting and may be asked to leave the meeting. A refusal 
by the member of the public concerned will lead to the Police being called to intervene. 
 
Filming by the Council This meeting will be filmed by the Council for live and/or subsequent 
broadcast on the Council’s website. The whole of the meeting will be filmed, except where 
there are confidential or exempt items, and the footage will be on the website for up to 24 



months (the Council retains one full year of recordings and the relevant proportion of the 
current Municipal Year). The Council will seek to avoid/minimise footage of members of the 
public in attendance at, or participating in, the meeting. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
PUBLIC SPEAKING SCHEME 

March 2021 
 
This Public Speaking Scheme is made pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 40 and gives 
the opportunity for a member of the public and other parties identified below to speak to 
Tendring District Council's Planning Committee when they are deciding a planning 
application. 
 

TO WHICH MEETINGS DOES THIS SCHEME APPLY? 
Public meeting of the Council's Planning Committee are normally held every 4 weeks at 
6.00 pm in the Committee Room at the Town Hall, Station Road, Clacton-on-Sea CO15 
1SE. 
 
WHO CAN SPEAK & TIME PERMITTED?  All speakers must be aged 18 or over: 
 
1. The applicant, his agent or representative; or (where applicable) one person the 

subject of the potential enforcement action or directly affected by the potential 
confirmation of a tree preservation order, his agent or representative.  A maximum 
of 3 minutes to speak is allowed; 

 
2. One member of the public who wishes to comment on or to speak in favour of the 

application or someone who produces a signed, written authority to speak on their 
behalf.  A maximum of 3 minutes to speak is allowed; 

 
3.   One member of the public who wishes to comment on or speak against the 

application or someone who produces a signed, written authority to speak on their 
behalf.  A maximum of 3 minutes to speak is allowed; 

 
4. Where the proposed development is in the area of a Parish or Town Council, one 

Parish or Town Council representative.  A maximum of 3 minutes to speak is 
allowed; 

 
5.  All District Councillors for the ward where the development is situated (“ward 

member”) or (if the ward member is unable to attend the meeting) a District 
Councillor appointed in writing by the ward member.  Member(s) of adjacent wards 



or wards impacted by the proposed development may also speak with the 
agreement of the Chairman.  Permission for District Councillors to speak is subject 
to the Council’s Code of Conduct and the declarations of interest provisions will 
apply.  A maximum of 5 minutes to speak is allowed; 

 
In accordance, with Council Procedure Rule 36.1, this Public Speaking Scheme 
takes precedence and no other Member shall be entitled to address or speak to the 
Planning Committee under Rule 36.1; and 

 
6. A member of the Council’s Cabinet may also be permitted to speak on any 

application but only if the proposed development has a direct impact on the portfolio 
for which the Cabinet member is responsible.  The Leader of the Council must 
approve the Cabinet Member making representations to the Planning Committee.  
A maximum of 3 minutes is allowed. 

 
Any one speaking as a Parish/Town Council representative may be requested to produce 
written evidence of their authority to do so, by the District Council’s Committee Services 
Officer (CSO).  This evidence may be an official Minute, copy of standing orders (or 
equivalent) or a signed letter from the Clerk to the Parish/Town Council and must be 
shown to the DSO before the beginning of the Planning Committee meeting concerned. 
 
No speaker, (with the exception of Ward Members, who are limited to 5 minutes) may 
speak for more than 3 minutes on any agenda items associated with applications (such as 
a planning application and an associated listed building consent application).  Speakers 
may not be questioned at the meeting, nor can any public speaker question other 
speakers, Councillors or Officers.  Speakers are not permitted to introduce any 
photograph, drawing or written material, including slide or other presentations, as part of 
their public speaking. 
 
All Committee meetings of Tendring District Council are chaired by the Chairman or, in 
their absence, the Vice-Chairman whose responsibility is to preside over meetings of the 
Council so that its business can be carried out efficiently and with regard to the rights of 
Councillors and the interests of the community.  The Chairman of the Planning Committee 
therefore, has authority to use their discretion when applying the Public Speaking Scheme 
to comply with this duty. 
 
WHICH MATTERS ARE COVERED BY THIS SCHEME? 
 
Applications for planning permission, reserved matters approval, listed building consent, 
conservation area consent, advertisement consent, hazardous substances consent, 
proposed or potential enforcement action and the proposed or potential confirmation of 
any tree preservation order, where these are the subject of public reports to the Planning 
Committee meeting. 
 
HOW CAN I FIND OUT WHEN A MATTER WILL BE CONSIDERED? 
 
In addition to the publication of agendas with written reports, the dates and times of the 
Planning Committee meetings are shown on the Council's website.  It should be noted that 
some applications may be withdrawn by the applicant at short notice and others may be 
deferred because of new information or for procedural reasons.  This means that deferral 
takes place shortly before or during the Planning Committee meeting and you will not be 
able to speak at that meeting, but will be able to do so at the meeting when the application 
is next considered by the Planning Committee. 
 



DO I HAVE TO ATTEND THE PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING TO MAKE THE 
COMMITTEE AWARE OF MY VIEWS? 
 
No.  If you have made written representations, their substance will be taken into account 
and the Committee report, which is available to all Planning Committee Councillors, will 
contain a summary of the representations received. 
 
HOW DO I ARRANGE TO SPEAK AT THE MEETING? 
 
You can:- 
 
Telephone the Committee Services Officer (“CSO”) (01255 686587 or 686584) during 
normal working hours on any weekday after the reports and agenda have been published; 
or 
 
Email: democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk.  
 
OR 
 
On the day of the Planning Committee meeting, you can arrive in the Committee Room in 
the Town Hall at least 15 minutes before the beginning of the meeting (meetings normally 
begin at 6.00pm) and speak to the CSO. 
 
If more than one person wants to speak who is eligible under a particular category (e.g. a 
member of the public within the description set out in numbered paragraphs 2 or 3 above), 
the right to speak under that category will be on a “first come, first served” basis. 
 
Indicating to the Chairman at a site visit that you wish to speak on an item is NOT formal 
notification or registration to speak; this must be made via the Committee Services Officer 
in the manner set out above. 
 
WHAT WILL HAPPEN WHEN THE MATTER CONCERNED IS CONSIDERED?  
 
 Planning Officer presents officer report 
 Public speaking takes place in the order set out above under the heading “WHO CAN 

SPEAK?” 
 Officer(s) may respond on factual issues arising from public speaking and may sum 

up the key policies and material planning considerations relevant to the application  
 Committee Members may ask Officers relevant questions and will debate, move 

motions and vote  
 
Normally, the Committee will determine the matter, but sometimes the Councillors will 
decide to defer determination, in order to allow officers to seek further information about a 
particular planning issue. If a matter is deferred after the public speaking, the Committee 
will not hear public speaking for a second time, unless there has been a substantial 
material change in the application which requires representations to be made. The 
Executive Summary section of the Planning Committee Report should identify whether 
public speaking is going to be permitted on an application being reconsidered after 
deferral.  If there is an update since the Report was published, the Council’s website will 
confirm this information. 
 
WHAT SHOULD I SAY AT THE MEETING?  
 

mailto:democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk


Please be straightforward and concise and try to keep your comments to planning matters 
which are directly relevant to the application or matter concerned.  Planning matters may 
include things such as planning policy, previous decisions of the Council on the same site 
or in similar circumstances, design, appearance, layout, effects on amenity, overlooking, 
loss of light, overshadowing, loss of privacy, noise or smell nuisance, impact on trees, 
listed buildings or highway safety. 
 
Matters such as the following are not relevant planning matters, namely the effect of the 
development on property value(s), loss of view, personality or motive of the applicant, 
covenants, private rights or easements and boundary or access disputes. 
 
Please be courteous and do not make personal remarks.  You may wish to come to the 
meeting with a written statement of exactly what you want to say or read out, having 
checked beforehand that it will not overrun the 3 minutes allowed. 
 
WHO DO I CONTACT FOR MORE INFORMATION?  
 
The Council’s website will help you and you can also contact the relevant planning Case 
Officer for the matter.  The name of the Officer is on the acknowledgement of the 
application or in the correspondence we have sent you. 
 
Tendring District Council, Planning Services,  
Town Hall, Station Road, CLACTON-ON-SEA, Essex CO15 1SE  
Tel: 01255 686161 Fax: 01255 686417  
Email: planningservices@tendringdc.gov.uk Web: www.tendringdc.gov.uk 
 
It always helps to save time if you can quote the planning application reference number. 
 
 
 
As approved at the meeting of the Full Council held on 16 March 2021 



 Planning Committee 
 

16 January 2024  

 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE, 
HELD ON TUESDAY, 16TH JANUARY, 2024 AT 5.00 PM 

IN THE COMMITTEE ROOM  - TOWN HALL, STATION ROAD, CLACTON-ON-SEA, 
CO15 1SE 

 
Present: Councillors Fowler (Chairman)(except item 75), White (Vice-

Chairman)(in the Chair for item 75 only), Alexander, M Cossens, 
Everett, McWilliams, Placey, Smith and Wiggins 
 

Also Present: Councillor Davidson, Councillor Ferguson (items 74 & 75 only), 
Councillor J Henderson (items 74 & 75 only) and Councillor Morrison 

In Attendance: Gary Guiver (Director (Planning)), John Pateman-Gee (Head of 
Planning & Building Control), Joanne Fisher (Planning Solicitor), 
Alison Pope (Planning Officer), Madeline Adger (Leadership Support 
Manager), Bethany Jones (Committee Services Officer) and Hattie 
Dawson-Dragisic (Performance and Business Support Officer) 

 
70. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

 
Apologies were received from Councillor Sudra (with Councillor Smith substituting).  
 

71. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
 
It was moved but Councillor Alexander, seconded by Councillor Placey and:- 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the last meeting of the Committee, held on Tuesday 19 
December, were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

72. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Councillor Fowler (Chairman) declared for the public record for Planning Application A.2 
– 23/01375/FUL – Parkeston Railway Club, Hamilton Street, Parkeston, Harwich, 
CO12 4PQ that she did not take part in the site visit that morning and that she had a 
personal interest in this item of the Agenda. She also said that the applicant, two of the 
trustees of NEST, the landowner, and several of the people objecting to the application 
are known to her as they are either friends, colleagues, or acquaintances. She would 
therefore withdraw from the Committee for that item and that Councillor White (Vice-
Chairman) would take over as Chairman for this item.   
 

73. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE PURSUANT TO COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 38  
 
There were no such Questions on Notice submitted by Councillors on this occasion.  
 

74. REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR (PLANNING) - A.1 - 23-01540-FUL AND 23-01539-LBC 
- MAUDS COURT LONG LANE, TENDRING, CO16 0BG  
 
Committee members were told that these applications were before Members as the 
proposal represented a departure from the Local Plan, proposing new residential 
development outside of the Tendring Settlement Development Boundary (SDB), as 
defined within the adopted Tendring District Local Plan 2013 to 2033 and Beyond.  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 Planning Committee 
 

16 January 2024  

 

Members were also told that these applications related to a single storey timber coach 
house within the setting of the Grade 2 listed Tendring Hall and likely having formed part 
of the former Tendring Hall Estate. The site was located on the northern side, at the 
eastern end of Long Lane, with the dwelling of Suffolk Barn immediately to the west and 
the dwelling of Hall Farm immediately to the north.  
 
Committee members heard that the site lay outside of the defined SDB of Tendring. The 
applications were therefore contrary to the spatial strategy set out within the adopted 
Local Plan Section 1 Policy SP7 and Section 2 Policy SPL2. However, Local Plan Policy 
SPL2 did not preclude residential development outside of the defined boundary, but 
rather required careful consideration of the scale of the development in relation to the 
settlement hierarchy category, site-specific characteristics, and sustainability of the site.  
 
Members were informed that under the site-specific merits of the case great weight was 
attributed to the conservation of the designated heritage assets. The coach house lay 
within the Tendring Conservation Area and within the setting of the listed building. In 
addition, villages were still under pressure to grow and some small-scale development 
which was sympathetic to the rural and often historic character of the settlement might 
help younger people to continue to live in the area, keep services viable and help bring 
balance to an ageing population.  
 
Members also heard that the proposed two-bedroom dwelling would convert the existing 
coach house, ensuring its external appearance in terms of its form and use of materials 
remained the same. Officers were satisfied that existing services and facilities within or 
near Tendring would be capable of supporting the proposed development of one 
dwelling.  
 
Officers told Members that, although the application site was outside of the defined 
settlement development boundary, the development would not result in any material 
harm in terms of scale, layout and design, heritage impact, residential amenities or 
highway safety, and was acceptable in all other regards.  
 
The Committee had before it the published Officer report containing the key planning 
issues, relevant planning policies, planning history, any response from consultees, 
written representations received and a recommendation of approval.  
 
At the meeting, an oral presentation was made by the Council’s Planning Officer (AP) in 
respect of the application.  
 
An update sheet had been circulated to the Committee prior to the meeting with details 
of: “the Officer recommendation of approval remains unchanged, now with a completed 
unilateral undertaking for a financial contribution towards RAMS.” 
 
There were no public speakers on this occasion.   
 
Matters raised by Members of the 
Committee:- 
 

Officer’s response thereto:- 

What part of the site is in the 
Conservation Area?  

The building itself and the front of the 
site, the proposed garden is not in the 
Conservation Area. The part of the 
building with the garages and the slate 

Page 2



 Planning Committee 
 

16 January 2024  

 

roof is not in the Conservation Area, but 
the part of the building with the tiled roof 
and the front of the site is within the 
Conservation Area.   

The tree that is to be removed, is that 
outside the Conservation Area? 

Yes, that is correct.  

Can we add a condition to replace the 
tree with a similar tree within the 
landscaping tree? 

In condition 12, there is a Landscape 
Condition that requires details to be 
agreed of “soft and hard landscaping to 
be agreed”, there is no mention of 
replacement of trees. Officers need to 
weigh out how would keeping the tree 
affect the building and soakaway 
proposal compared to taking the tree 
out. At this moment in time, from a 
Planning perspective, the tree could be 
removed at any time and Officers would 
have no control over it. Officers would 
recommend not to pursue this matter 
any further.  

Has an Officer been inside the existing 
building? If so, have they seen the 
construction of the wall that is on the left 
hand of the building?  

No, Officers haven’t been in the 
building, Officers have relied on the 
photographs provided. 

Have we consulted with amenities 
societies?  

That wall is not considered a principal 
elevation of the building and Officers 
have not consulted any amenities 
societies as it is not one of our statutory 
consultees for an application of this 
nature. For a Grade 2 listed building, 
Officers consult the heritage advisors at 
Place Services at Essex County 
Council, and they have provided advice. 
If it was a different Grade listed building, 
then Officers would consult English 
Heritage, but this building is not. The 
applicant/developer is required to 
provide a heritage background of the 
building and any changes that is made 
so it is recorded.  
The internal wall was originally likely to 
be an external wall and therefore low 
bearing and that means more 
functional. Officers don’t know if its 
partially being taken out or fully being 
taken out. Officers can make a 
provisional condition but would still have 
to carry out a consultation exercise with 
at least the amenities society. 

Do we know if the tree is going to be 
axed? 

Yes, it will be removed.  

 

Page 3



 Planning Committee 
 

16 January 2024  

 

It was moved by Councillor Everett, seconded by Councillor Placey and unanimously:- 
 
RESOLVED that:- 
 

1)  on appropriate terms as summarised below and those as may be deemed 
necessary to the satisfaction of the Head of Planning and Building Control to 
secure the completion of a legal agreement under the provisions of section 106 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 dealing with the following matters: 

 
- RAMS financial contribution of £156.76 for one dwelling toward recreational 

disturbance at the Hamford Water Special Protection Area, Special Area of 
Conservation and Ramsar site.  

 
2) the Head of Planning and Building Control be authorised to grant planning 

permission subject to the agreed section 106 agreement and conditions as 
stated at paragraphs 8.2 and 8.3 of the Officer report and the extended 
consultation for Amenities Society and Historic England and that no further 
issues are raised  together with the alteration to Condition 12 “replacement of 
Conifer tree if felled with suitable replacement”, or varied as is necessary to 
ensure the wording is enforceable, precise, and reasonable in all other respects, 
including appropriate updates, so long as the principle of the conditions as 
referenced is retained.  

 
3) the sending of any informative notes to the applicant, as may be deemed 

necessary; and, 
 

4) in the event of the Planning obligations or requirements referred to in Resolution 
(1) above not being secured and/or not secured within 12 months that the Head 
of Planning and Building Control be authorised to refuse the applications on 
appropriate grounds at their discretion.  

 
75. REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR (PLANNING) - A.2 - 23-01375-FUL - PARKESTON 

RAILWAY CLUB, HAMILTON ROAD, PARKESTON, CO12 4PQ  
 
 Earlier on in the meeting as reported under Minute 72 above, Councillor Fowler 
(Chairman) had declared a personal interest. She therefore withdrew from the meeting 
and took no part whilst the Committee deliberated and made its decision on this 
application. The Chair was thereupon occupied by the Vice-Chairman (Councillor 
White). 
 
The Head of Planning and Building Control announced: 
 
“In respect of the proposal before you, just before this meeting we had an update about 
the ownership of the site. Obviously, we have to ensure that the application form is 
correct, and it usually has a certificate of ownership so that we ensure that relevant 
owners are notified of the application. Most often we see certificate A as the owner and 
the applicant are generally the same. Sometimes we have certificate B, which is that 
they’re looking at lands, if I wanted to put an application in to do something with this 
building (Town Hall), even though it has nothing to do with me, I’d be serving a 
certificate B on the Council. There are others that are C and D where you don’t know the 
owners. In this case, it has been drawn to our attention that there may be owners 
unknown and owners that maybe haven’t been served with a notice and therefore we 

Page 4



 Planning Committee 
 

16 January 2024  

 

need to provide time for that to happen. So, the current applicant is, as I understand, 
looking at serving a certificate C in order to reconcile that point. So, whatever 
recommendation we move forward today with either seeking to approve or refuse the 
application – we have to allow a time for that ownership notification to take place, 
generally around 21 days, before we can release that decision correctly. It is not an 
issue you need to concern yourself with as we have picked it up but it does mean that 
any decision you make today may not be released for a period of at least 3 weeks while 
the ownership issue is resolved.” 
 
Members were told that this application sought permission to change the use of part of 
the Parkeston Railway Club car park to site four containers for use by the charity NEST 
for storage purposes.  
 
The Committee was made aware that volunteers would access the containers to 
facilitate deliveries and maintain stock during the day. Local residents/families in need 
would also be invited to the site by prior arrangement to collect specific items to assist 
their day-to-day living.  
 
Officers informed Members that the proposal was not considered to be harmful to the 
character and appearance of the area, it would not result in any significant impact to 
neighbouring amenities, and it was acceptable in terms of highway impacts and flood 
risk.  
 
The Committee had before it the published Officer report containing the key planning 
issues, relevant planning policies, planning history, any response from consultees, 
written representations received and a recommendation of approval.  
 
At the meeting, an oral presentation was made by the Council’s Planning Officer (AP) in 
respect of the application.  
 
An Officer Update Sheet had been circulated to Members prior to the meeting with an 
update of: 
 
“The ownership of the land occupied by the Parkeston Railway Club is not 
straightforward and therefore the applicant/agent is publishing a notice in a local 
newspaper under the requirements of The Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. A decision on the application will be 
issued 21 days from the date the notice is published.  
 
The Council’s Environmental Protection team have provided the following response: 
 
I can confirm the EP Team have reviewed the proposal and have no adverse comments 
to make; however, it was noted from the site pictures submitted by the applicant and 
those of the Planner, and from information gleaned from the Planner, that one of the 
current units appears to be storing asbestos sheeting.  This does not confirm the 
presence of an immediate concern; however information indicates the material may be 
damaged.  In light of this the EP Team would strongly suggest the responsible and 
proper removal of the sheeting, so as to minimise any potential adverse impact to site 
workers, or nearby residents, should the materials degrade and potentially release fibres 
to air.  As such we would request the following informative be added to any approval: 
 

Page 5



 Planning Committee 
 

16 January 2024  

 

Asbestos:  If there is any asbestos present on site then adequate and suitable 
measures should be carried out for the minimisation of asbestos fibres, so as to prevent 
airborne fibres from affecting workers carrying out any work and nearby properties. Only 
contractors licensed by the Health and Safety Executive should be employed. Any 
redundant materials removed from the site should be transported by a registered waste 
carrier and disposed of at an appropriate legal tipping site. 
 
REASON: to protect the health of workers and nearby existing residents.” 
 
Les Nicoll, Chairman of N.E.S.T, the applicant, spoke in favour of the application. 
 
Sarah Stertz, member of the public, spoke in favour of the application. 
 
Eric Bramhill, member of the public, spoke against the application.  
 
Parish Councillor Tanya Ferguson, on behalf of Parkeston & Ramsey Parish Council, 
spoke against the application.  
 
Councillor Jo Henderson, the “Caller-in” and an adjoining Ward Member, spoke against 
the application. 
 
Matters raised by Members of the 
Committee:- 

Officer’s response thereto:- 

What is the situation, if the Committee 
make a decision and another owner of 
the parking facility comes forward? 

Should any other issues be raised, then 
Officers would return the application to 
the Committee. 

How many of the containers will actually 
be on the site? 

There will be 4 containers on the site. 
The container on the site currently, the 
green container, will be removed and 
there will be a condition to have that 
container removed within 3 months. 

4 containers with the other blue one that 
is already there?  

That’s correct but that will need to be 
repositioned.  

Do Officers have knowledge that lorries 
are parked in the car park and how 
many?  

Officers cannot give numbers, but the 
current use of the car park is 
unrestrictive, so any size vehicle can 
park in that area.  

Is there a better layout plan? The plan in front of the Committee is the 
plan submitted and that is what the 
Committee is considering.  

Can we defer this until an appropriate 
site layout plan is given? 

The plan is more than what the 
applicant needed to provide. The plan 
before Committee is adequate for the 
Committee to make a decision on. 
Officers have to deal with this as a 
submission without a local validation list 
which means Officers are only held by 
national requirements of validation. This 
plan is above and beyond the details 
that needed to be provided by law. They 
could have given a smaller plan and 
that would have been enough. It is to 

Page 6



 Planning Committee 
 

16 January 2024  

 

scale, and it is correct.   
Is this application going to be deferred? The layout plan is acceptable. The 

proposal is down to the Committee. The 
recommendation is before Committee 
but that is up for debate.  

Would it be beneficial if the Committee 
had a more accurate layout plan of 
where the containers are going to go 
and how it will affect the entrance and 
exit?  

That is up for debate.  

Children will be dropped off there to go 
and play football, is that right?  

Officers don’t know the complete 
arrangements but that is correct.  

When the children are leaving the 
vehicles or being picked up, they 
potentially could run behind the 
containers and there is no lighting being 
added? 

There is no lighting proposal so, it will 
be dark when it gets dark. That is up for 
the Committee’s debate. It does appear 
that you can go between the container’s 
night and day.   

If this was approved, is the layout plan 
in front of Committee, is that what will 
be approved?  

All the maps and plans look about right 
when put next to each other. There may 
be small amounts of difference here and 
there, but the locations of the containers 
will have to be to scale on the boundary 
shown and if the boundary is shown 
incorrect because they’ve taken survey 
data then that is their risk, but it seems 
fairly close to Officers.  

Would Officers advise the Committee to 
refuse the proposal for a new 
application to be submitted or should 
Committee defer? 

Officers are not sure what Committee 
are asking for when they want a 
deferral. Officers need clarification on 
what the Committee are asking the 
applicant to provide.  

 
It was moved by Councillor Everett, seconded by Councillor Alexander and:- 
 
RESOLVED that the consideration of application 23/01375/FUL be deferred to enable 
Officers to seek the following information from the applicant:  
 

- information on how access to neighbouring use/s shall be maintained as a safe; 
- layout redesign considerations available that may enhance the scheme; and, 
- to allow resolution of ownership matters in terms of notification requirement and 

any result further representations.  
  

 The meeting was declared closed at 7.10 pm  
  

 
 

Chairman 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

15 February 2024 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PLANNING 
 

A.1 PLANNING APPLICATION – 23/01265/FUL – COPPINS HALL COMMUNITY CENTRE 
MALDON WAY CLACTON ON SEA CO16 7PA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DO NOT SCALE  
© Crown Copyright and database right 2024. Ordnance Survey Licence No.100018684. 
 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 

 
Application: 23/01265/FUL Expiry 

Date: 
6th November 2023 

 
Case Officer: Naomi Hart EOT Date: 19th February 2024 
 
Town/ Parish: Clacton Non Parished 
 
Applicant: Daniel Fenn - Inclusion Ventures 
 
Address: Land rear of Coppins Hall Community Centre Maldon Way Clacton On Sea 

CO16 7PA  
 

  
Development: Temporary siting of storage container (Retrospective application)  

 
1. Executive Summary 

 
1.1 The application is before the Planning Committee as the application site is owned by Tendring 

District Council. 
 
1.2 The application seeks permission for the temporary siting of a storage container to the land rear 

of Coppins Community Centre to store bikes, bike equipment, tools and sports equipment which 
the charity (Inclusion Ventures) use for community based sessions.  

 
1.3 The proposal is not considered to be harmful to the character and appearance of the area and 

it will not result in any significant impact to neighbouring amenities.  
 

Recommendation: Approval  
 

1) That the Head of Planning and Building Control be authorised to grant planning 
permission subject to conditions as stated at paragraph 8.2, or varied as is necessary 
to ensure the wording is enforceable, precise, and reasonable in all other respects, 
including appropriate updates, so long as the principle of the conditions as referenced 
is retained; and, 

 
2) The informative notes as may be deemed necessary. 

 

 
 

2. Planning Policy 
 
  The following Local and National Planning Policies are relevant to this planning application. 
 

National: 
  
National Planning Policy Framework December 2023 (NPPF) 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
Local: 
  
Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond North Essex Authorities' Shared Strategic 
Section 1 Plan (adopted January 2021): 
 
SP7  Place Shaping Principles 
 

Page 10



 

 

Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond Section 2 (adopted January 2022): 
 
SPL3  Sustainable Design 
HP2 Community Facilities 
 
Local Planning Guidance: 
 
Essex Design Guide 

 
 Status of the Local Plan 
 

Planning law requires that decisions on applications must be taken in accordance with the 
development plan unless there are material considerations that indicate otherwise (Section 
70(2) of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act and Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  This is set out in Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (the Framework).  The ‘development plan’ for Tendring comprises, in part, Sections 
1 and 2 of the Tendring District Council 2013-33 and Beyond Local Plan (adopted January 2021 
and January 2022, respectively), supported by our suite of evidence base core documents 

(https://www.tendringdc.uk/content/evidence-base) together with any neighbourhood plans 
that have been brought into force. 

 
3. Relevant Planning History 

    
07/00177/FUL Proposed extension to form office 

area. 
Approved 
 

05.04.2007 

  
15/00149/FUL Siting of a portacabin/container for 

storage use 
Approved 
 

17.03.2015 

  
4. Consultations 

 
No consultations were necessary.  
 

5. Representations 
 

Clacton on Sea is non parished 
 

No letters of representation have been received 
 

6. Assessment 
 

Site Description  
 

6.1 The site is located at Coppins Hall Community Centre at the north-eastern end of Maldon Way 
and is within the Settlement Development Boundary for Clacton on Sea. On the western and 
northern boundary of the site lies a public right of way. The site contains a detached community 
centre and associated car parking area. To the north of the site is an area of public open space 
with enclosed basketball court. There is a children’s centre to the east, otherwise the site is 
located in a residential area. 

 
Proposal  

6.2 This application seeks planning permission for the siting of a storage container to store bikes, 
bike equipment, tools and sports equipment which the charity (Inclusion Ventures) use for 
community-based sessions.  
 

6.3 Following the officers site visit, the storage container is in situ.  

Page 11

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.tendringdc.uk%2Fcontent%2Fevidence-base&data=05%7C01%7Cmwilson%40tendringdc.gov.uk%7Cfe99a576ab30424e8e8d08db82bdfe7b%7C85a13c52693e4c39bdfa85c3a9047d15%7C0%7C0%7C638247524754585286%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=fgMrg2xeE8%2BWuVHhWQzG8l0eYvfWmc4s9UK2jFmGgqA%3D&reserved=0


 

 

 
6.4 The proposal is a blue steel storage container which measures 2.75 metres in depth, 7.3 metres 

in width with an overall height of 2.5 metres.  
 
Assessment  
 

6.5 The main considerations for this application are: 
 
- Principle of Development 
- Design and Appearance 
- Impact upon Neighbouring Amenities 
 
Principle of Development 
 

6.6 The site is within the Settlement Development Boundary and the development relates to the 
existing use of the Community Centre. Policy HP2 seeks to deliver and maintain a range of new 
community facilities. New development should support and enhance community facilities by 
providing or contributing towards new or enhanced community facilities to meet needs arising 
from the proposed development or growth.  
 

6.7 The proposed development, which is required to support the operation and services provided 
by the Community Centre is considered to be aligned with the aims of HP2 and therefore the 
principle of development is supported subject to the detailed policy considerations discussed 
below. 
 
Design and Appearance  
 

6.8 The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built environment. Good design 
is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning, and should 
contribute positively to making places better for people.  
 

6.9 Paragraph 135 of the NPPF requires that developments are visually attractive as a result of 
good architecture, are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment, function well and add to the overall quality of the area, and establish or maintain a 
strong sense of place.  

 
6.10 Local Plan Policy SP7 seeks high standards of urban and architectural design, which 

 respond to local character and context. Local Plan Policies SPL3 and LP4 also require, 
 amongst other things, that developments deliver new dwellings that are designed to high 
 standards and which, together with a well considered site layout that relates well to its site 
 and surroundings. 

 
6.11 The proposed container is of a functional design as is determined by its very nature  however it 

is located to the rear of the community centre and the associated car park with no visibility from 
Maldon way. There will however be views of the container from the adjacent public right of way 
and public open space. From these vantage points, the proposal will mostly be seen in its narrow 
elevation, although the whole proposal will be plainly in sight. Whilst it is not of similar 
appearance to the existing community centre, the container would be seen in the context of the 
wider site and its use as a community centre. Due to the temporary use of the proposal, it is 
considered that the container would not result in any long term material harm to the character 
and appearance of the surrounding area.  
 

6.12 A temporary use condition will be imposed to allow time for an application for a suitable 
permanent scheme to come forward and ensure the temporary harm is removed. 
 

      Impact upon Neighbouring Amenities 

Page 12



 

 

 
6.13 Paragraph 135 of The Framework maintains that policies and decisions should result in new 

development that creates places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote 
health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. Policy SPL3 
seeks new development that does not have a materially damaging impact on the privacy, 
daylight or other amenities of occupiers of nearby properties.  
 

6.14 It is not considered, given the siting of the proposed container and the separation distances from 
the neighbouring residential properties, the proposal would have an adverse impact on the 
residential amenity of the neighbouring properties. 
 

7. Conclusion 
 

7.1 It is considered that the proposed development is consistent with the National and Local Plan 
Policies identified above. In the absence of material harm resulting from the proposal the 
application is recommended for approval. 

 
8. Recommendation 

 
8.1 The Planning Committee is recommended to grant planning permission subject to the following 

conditions and informatives.   
 

8.2 Conditions and Reasons 
 
1  APPROVED PLANS & DOCUMENTS 
  
 CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

drawings/documents listed below and/or such other drawings/documents as may be 
approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing pursuant to other conditions of this 
permission or such drawings/documents as may subsequently be approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority as a non-material amendment following an application in that 
regard (except for Listed Building Consents).  Such development hereby permitted shall be 
carried out in accordance with any Phasing Plan approved, or as necessary in accordance 
with any successive Phasing Plan as may subsequently be approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of development pursuant to this condition.       

  
Drawing No. P-01 – Site Location Plan  
Drawing No. P-02 – Proposed Block Plan  
Drawing No. P-03 – Proposed Floor Plans and Elevations 

  
 REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper phased planning of the 

development. 
  
 NOTE/S FOR CONDITION: 
  
 The primary role of this condition is to confirm the approved plans and documents that form 

the planning decision.  Any document or plan not listed in this condition is not approved, 
unless otherwise separately referenced in other conditions that also form this decision.  The 
second role of this condition is to allow the potential process of Non Material Amendment if 
found necessary and such future applications shall be considered on their merits.  Lastly, 
this condition also allows for a phasing plan to be submitted for consideration as a 
discharge of condition application should phasing be needed by the developer/s if not 
otherwise already approved as part of this permission.  A phasing plan submission via this 
condition is optional and not a requirement.              

  

Page 13



 

 

 Please note in the latest revision of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) it 
provides that Local Planning Authorities should seek to ensure that the quality of approved 
development is not materially diminished between permission and completion, as a result of 
changes being made to the permitted scheme (for example through changes to approved 
details such as the materials used).  Accordingly, any future amendment of any kind will be 
considered in line with this paragraph, alongside the Development Plan and all other 
material considerations.   

  
 Any indication found on the approved plans and documents to describe the plans as 

approximate and/or not to be scaled and/or measurements to be checked on site or similar, 
will not be considered applicable and the scale and measurements shown shall be the 
approved details and used as necessary for compliance purposes and/or enforcement 
action. 

 
2 COMPLIANCE: TEMPORARY PERMISSION 
 

CONDITION: The development is hereby approved for a temporary period of 3 years from 
the date of this decision, by which date the building shall be removed in its entirety and the 
land returned to its original state and use. 
 
REASON: To accord with the requirements of the application, this is secured as temporary 
permission.  Furthermore, the appearance of the container is not considered appropriate to 
warrant the granting of a permanent permission in the interests of preserving the visual 
amenity of the surrounding area. This temporary permission allows time for an application 
for a suitable permanent scheme to come forward. 
 

Informatives  
 

Positive and Proactive Statement  
 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including planning 
policies and any representations that may have been received and subsequently determining 
to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, as set out within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
9. Additional Considerations  
 

Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 
 

a. In making your decision you must have regard to the PSED under section 149 of the Equality 
Act 2010 (as amended). This means that the Council must have due regard to the need in 
discharging its functions to: 
 

b. A. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited 
by the Act; 

c. B. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. This may include removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by persons 
who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; taking 
steps to meet the special needs of those with a protected characteristic; encouraging 
participation in public life (or other areas where they are underrepresented) of people with a 
protected characteristic(s); and 

d. C. Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who 
do not, including tackling prejudice and promoting understanding. 
 

Page 14



 

 

e. The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, being married or in a civil partnership, race including colour, nationality and ethnic or 
national origin, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 
 

f. The PSED must be considered as a relevant factor in making this decision but does not impose 
a duty to achieve the outcomes in section 149 and section 149 is only one factor that needs to 
be considered, and may be balanced against other relevant factors. 
 

g. It is considered that the recommendation to grant permission in this case would not have a 
disproportionately adverse impact on a protected characteristic. 

 
Human Rights 

  
h. In making your decision, you should be aware of and take into account any implications that 

may arise from the Human Rights Act 1998 (as amended). Under the Act, it is unlawful for a 
public authority such as the Tendring District Council to act in a manner that is incompatible with 
the European Convention on Human Rights. 
 

i. You are referred specifically to Article 8 (right to respect for private and family life), Article 1 of 
the First Protocol (protection of property) and Article 14 (right to freedom from discrimination).  
 

j. It is not considered that the recommendation to grant permission in this case interferes with local 
residents' right to respect for their private and family life, home and correspondence or freedom 
from discrimination except insofar as it is necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of others 
(in this case, the rights of the applicant). The Council is also permitted to control the use of 
property in accordance with the general interest and the recommendation to grant permission is 
considered to be a proportionate response to the submitted application based on the 
considerations set out in this report. 

 
Finance Implications 

 
k. Local finance considerations are a matter to which local planning authorities are to have regard 

in determining planning applications, as far as they are material to the application. 
 

l. The New Homes Bonus (NHB) is one local finance consideration capable of being a material 
consideration to which the weight given shall be determined by the decision maker.  The NHB 
is a payment to local authorities to match the Council Tax of net new dwellings built, paid by 
Central Government over six consecutive years.  In this instance, it is not considered to have 
any significant weight attached to it that would outweigh the other considerations. 

 
10. Background Papers  
 

a. In making this recommendation, officers have considered all plans, documents, reports and 
supporting information submitted with the application together with any amended 
documentation. Additional information considered relevant to the assessment of the application 
(as referenced within the report) also form background papers. All such information is available 
to view on the planning file using the application reference number via the Council’s Public 
Access system by following this link https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-applications/. 

 
 

 

Page 15

https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-applications/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

15 FEBRUARY 2024 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PLANNING 
 

A.2 PLANNING APPLICATION – 23/01418/FUL – BRAHAM HALL FARM BENTLEY ROAD 
LITTLE BROMLEY MANNINGTREE CO11 2PS 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DO NOT SCALE  
© Crown Copyright and database right 2024. Ordnance Survey Licence No.100018684. 
 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 

 
Application: 23/01418/FUL Expiry 

Date: 
6th December 2023 

 
Case Officer: Michael Pingram EOT Date: 20th February 2024 
 
Town/ Parish: Little Bromley Parish Council 
 
Applicant: Messrs Lord and Peterson 
 
Address: Braham Hall Farm Bentley Road Little Bromley, Manningtree CO11 2PS  
  
Development: Erection of two dwellings. (in lieu of prior approval for the conversion of an 

agricultural building into two dwellings 23/00549/COUNOT) 

 
1. Executive Summary 

 
1.1 The application is referred to Planning Committee as the proposed development would conflict 

with the requirements of the Development Plan, principally Policy SPL2 (Settlement 
Development Boundaries) of the Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond Section 2 
(adopted January 2022) being located outside of any defined settlement development boundary 
and has a recommendation of approval. 

 
1.2 The proposed dwelling is sited in a slightly different location to the east but adjacent to the prior 

approval building, but is of a very similar size, design, and also retains the same number of 
bedrooms. Officers are content, therefore, that the proposal would not be harmful to the 
character and appearance of the surrounding area.  

 
1.3 There are no significant issues in respect to neighbouring amenities or harm to trees. Essex 

Highways Authority have raised no objections and there is sufficient space for parking, whilst 
ECC Ecology have removed their initial holding objection following the submission of additional 
photographic evidence that the building to be demolished would not have potential for the 
roosting of bats. 

 

Recommendation: Approval subject to Unilateral Undertaking 
 
1) On appropriate terms as summarised below and those as may be deemed necessary to 

the satisfaction of the Head of Planning and Building Control to secure the completion of 
a legal agreement under the provisions of section 106 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 dealing with the following matters: 
 

- Financial contribution in accordance with the Essex Coast Recreational disturbance 
Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) totalling £156.76 per dwelling (index linked) 

 
2) That the Head of Planning and Building Control be authorised to grant planning permission 

subject to the agreed section 106 agreement and conditions as stated at paragraph 8.2, 
or varied as is necessary to ensure the wording is enforceable, precise, and reasonable in 
all other respects, including appropriate updates, so long as the principle of the conditions 
as referenced is retained; and, 
 

3) The informative notes as may be deemed necessary. 
 

Or; 
 

Page 18



 

 

4) That in the event of the Head of Planning and Building Control or requirements referred to 
in Resolution (1) above not being secured and/or not secured within 12 months that the 
Head of Planning and Building Control be authorised to refuse the application on 
appropriate grounds at their discretion. 

 

 
2. Planning Policy 

 
The following Local and National Planning Policies are relevant to this planning application. 
 
National:  
National Planning Policy Framework 2023 (NPPF) 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
Local:  
Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond North Essex Authorities' Shared Strategic 
Section 1 Plan (adopted January 2021) 
 
SP1  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
SP2  Recreational disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) 
SP3  Spatial Strategy for North Essex 
SP7  Place Shaping Principles 
 
Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond Section 2 (adopted January 2022) 
SPL1  Managing Growth 
SPL3  Sustainable Design 
LP1  Housing Supply 
LP2  Housing Choice 
LP3  Housing Density and Standards 
LP4  Housing Layout 
PPL3  The Rural Landscape 
PPL4  Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
PPL5 Water Conservation, Drainage and Sewerage 
PPL9   Listed Buildings 
PPL10 Renewable Energy Generation 
HP5  Open Space, Sports & Recreation Facilities 
DI1  Infrastructure Delivery and Impact Mitigation 
CP1 Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
 
Local Planning Guidance: 
Essex County Council Car Parking Standards - Design and Good Practice 
Essex Design Guide 
 
Status of the Local Plan 
 
Planning law requires that decisions on applications must be taken in accordance with the 
development plan unless there are material considerations that indicate otherwise (Section 70(2) of 
the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act and Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004).  This is set out in Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the 
Framework).  The ‘development plan’ for Tendring comprises, in part, Sections 1 and 2 of the 
Tendring District Council 2013-33 and Beyond Local Plan (adopted January 2021 and January 2022, 
respectively), supported by our suite of evidence base core documents 

(https://www.tendringdc.uk/content/evidence-base) together with any neighbourhood plans that 
have been brought into force. 
 
In relation to housing supply:  

Page 19

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.tendringdc.uk%2Fcontent%2Fevidence-base&data=05%7C01%7Cmwilson%40tendringdc.gov.uk%7Cfe99a576ab30424e8e8d08db82bdfe7b%7C85a13c52693e4c39bdfa85c3a9047d15%7C0%7C0%7C638247524754585286%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=fgMrg2xeE8%2BWuVHhWQzG8l0eYvfWmc4s9UK2jFmGgqA%3D&reserved=0


 

 

 
The Framework requires Councils boost significantly the supply of housing to meet objectively 
assessed future housing needs in full.  In any one year, Councils must be able to identify five years 
of deliverable housing land against their projected housing requirements (plus an appropriate buffer 
to ensure choice and competition in the market for land, to account for any fluctuations in the market 
or to improve the prospect of achieving the planned supply). If this is not possible or if housing 
delivery over the previous three years has been substantially below (less than 75%) the housing 
requirement, Paragraph 11 d) of the Framework requires granting permission unless any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed 
against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole (what is often termed the ‘tilted balance’). 
 
The Local Plan fixes the Council’s housing requirement at 550 dwellings per annum. On 19 October 
2021 the Council’s Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) updated the housing 
land supply position. The SHLAA demonstrates in excess of a six-and-a-half-year supply of 
deliverable housing land. On 14 January 2022 the Government published the Housing Delivery Test 
(HDT) 2021 measurement. Against a requirement for 1420 homes for 2018-2021, the total number 
of homes delivered was 2345. The Council’s HDT 2021 measurement was therefore 165%. As a 
result, the ‘tilted balance’ at paragraph 11 d) of the Framework does not apply to applications for 
housing. 
 
Neighbourhood Plans 
 
A neighbourhood plan introduced by the Localism Act that can be prepared by the local community 
and gives communities the power to develop a shared vision for their area. Neighbourhood plans 
can shape, direct and help to deliver sustainable development, by influencing local planning 
decisions as part of the statutory development plan to promote development and uphold the strategic 
policies as part of the Development Plan alongside the Local Plan.  Relevant policies are considered 
in the assessment. Further information on our Neighbourhood Plans and their progress can be found 
via our website https://www.tendringdc.uk/content/neighbourhood-plans 
   

3. Relevant Planning History 
     

10/01023/LBC Replacement of 26 no. windows and 
1 no. door. 

Approved 
 

10.11.2010 

  
  

21/00093/COUNOT Application for prior approval for the 
conversion of three agricultural 
buildings into 4 dwellings. 

Determination 
 

15.03.2021 

  
21/01896/COUNOT Prior Approval for the conversion of 

three agricultural buildings into 4 
dwellings. 

Determination 
(Prior Approval 
required) 
 

23.12.2021 

  
23/00549/COUNOT Prior Approval Application under 

Part 3, Class Q of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 
(as amended) for the conversion of 
three agricultural buildings into 4 
dwellings. 

Determination 
(Prior Approval 
not required) 
 

30.06.2023 

  
 
 
 

Page 20

https://www.tendringdc.uk/content/neighbourhood-plans


 

 

4. Consultations 
 
Below is a summary of the comments received from consultees relevant to this application proposal. 
Where amendments have been made to the application, or additional information has been 
submitted to address previous issues, only the latest comments are included below. 
 
All consultation responses are available to view, in full (including all recommended conditions and 
informatives), on the planning file using the application reference number via the Council’s Public 
Access system by following this link https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-applications/. 

 

UU Open Spaces   07.11.2023 
 
Play Space - current deficit: 
- Deficit of 0.23 hectares of equipped play in Little Bromley 
 
Formal Play - current deficit: 
- Deficit of 0.46 hectares of open space Little Bromley 
 
Settlement provision: 
- Currently there is no provision of open space or play facilities in Little Bromley 
 
Contribution necessary, related, and reasonable? 
to comply with CIL Regs* 
- No contribution is being requested on this occasion. 
 
Identified project*: 
(In consultation with Town / Parish Council on upcoming projects or needs for maintenance) 
- N/a 

 
 

Essex County Council Ecology   04.01.2024 
 
Thank you for re-consulting Place Services on the above application. 
 
No objection subject to securing: 
 
a) a proportionate financial contribution towards Essex Coast RAMS 
b) biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures 
 
Summary 
 
Further to our comments on 25th October 2023, we have reviewed the photos sent by the agent 
(received 2nd January 2024) relating to the likely impacts of development on designated sites, 
protected and Priority species & habitats and identification of appropriate mitigation measures. 
 
The site falls within the evidenced recreational Zone of Influence (ZOI) of Essex Coast RAMs. 
Given the residential element of this development is relevant, the LPA will need to prepare a 
project level HRA Appropriate Assessment to secure a per dwelling tariff by a legal agreement 
for delivery of visitor management measures at the designated sites. This will mitigate for 
predicted recreational impacts in combination with other plans and projects and avoid Adverse 
Effect on Integrity of the designated Habitats sites. 
 
Upon review of the photos sent by the agent (received 2nd January 2024), we note that the 
barn, proposed to be demolished, does not have potential for roosting bats. As a result, the 
LPA has certainty of the likely impacts of bats, European Protected Species. 
 

Page 21

https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-applications/


 

 

We are now satisfied that there is sufficient ecological information available for determination 
of this application. 
 
This provides certainty for the LPA of the likely impacts on designated sites, protected and 
Priority species & habitats and, with appropriate mitigation measures secured, the development 
can be made acceptable. 
 
We also support the reasonable biodiversity enhancements, which are recommended to secure 
net gains for biodiversity, as outlined under Paragraph 180d of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (December 2023). The reasonable biodiversity enhancement measures should be 
outlined within a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy and should be secured by a condition of 
any consent. 
In addition, it is likely bats could be foraging/commuting within close proximity and around the 
site. Therefore, if any external lighting is to be proposed, it is advised that a sensitive lighting 
scheme is developed to minimise any impacts. This should summarise the following measures 
will be implemented: 
 

• Light levels should be as low as possible as required to fulfil the lighting need. 

• Warm White lights should be used at <2700k. This is necessary as lighting which emit an 
ultraviolet component or that have a blue spectral content have a high attraction effect on 
insects. This may lead in a reduction in prey availability for some light sensitive bat species. 

• The provision of motion sensors or timers to avoid the amount of 'lit-time' of the proposed 
lighting. 

• Lights should be designed to prevent horizontal spill e.g. cowls, hoods, reflector skirts or 
shields. 

 
This will enable LPA to demonstrate its compliance with its statutory duties including its 
biodiversity duty under s40 NERC Act 2006. 
 
Impacts will be minimised such that the proposal is acceptable, subject to the conditions below 
based on BS42020:2013. 
 
We recommend that submission for approval and implementation of the details below should 
be a condition of any planning consent. 
 
Recommended conditions 
 
1. PRIOR TO ANY WORKS ABOVE SLAB LEVEL: BIODIVERSITY ENHANCEMENT 
STRATEGY 
 
"A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for protected and Priority species shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following: 
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures; 
b) detailed designs or product descriptions to achieve stated objectives; 
c) locations, orientations, and heights of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate 
maps and plans; 
d) timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with the proposed 
phasing of development; 
e) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures; 
f) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant). 
 
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to occupation 
and shall be retained in that manner thereafter." 
 

Page 22



 

 

Reason: To enhance protected and Priority species & habitats and allow the LPA to discharge 
its duties under the NPPF 2023 and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). 
 
And if any external lighting is proposed; 
 
2. PRIOR TO OCCUPATION: WILDLIFE SENSITIVE LIGHTING DESIGN SCHEME 
 
"A lighting design scheme for biodiversity in accordance with GN:08/23 Bats and Artificial 
External Lighting (Institute of Lighting Professionals) shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall identify those features on site that are 
particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause disturbance along important routes 
used for foraging; and show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the 
provision of appropriate lighting plans, drawings and technical specifications) so that it can be 
clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their territory. 
 
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and locations set out 
in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the scheme. Under no 
circumstances should any other external lighting be installed without prior consent from the 
local planning authority." 
 
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and 
s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). 

 
 

ECC Highways Dept   24.10.2023 
 
The information submitted with the application has been assessed and conclusions have been 
drawn from a desktop study with the observations below based on the submitted material and 
in conjunction with a previous site visit/meeting. It is noted that this application is similar to 
earlier applications 23/00549/COUNOT, 21/00093/COUNOT and 21/01896/COUNOT. 
Mitigation proposals have been incorporated within this application, in particular associated 
with the existing Public Right of Way that shares part of the private track that will serve the two 
dwellings, considering these factors: 
 
From a highway and transportation perspective the impact of the proposal is acceptable to 
Highway Authority subject to the following mitigation and conditions: 
 
1. Areas within the curtilage of the site for the purpose of the reception and storage of building 
materials shall be identified clear of the highway. 
 
Reason:  To ensure that appropriate loading / unloading facilities are available to ensure that 
the highway is not obstructed during the construction period in the interest of highway safety in 
accordance with policy DM1. 
 
2. The proposed development shall not be occupied until such time as domestic car parking for 
a minimum of two vehicles per dwelling has been provided in accordance with the Parking 
Standards, details to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority. The agreed car parking shall 
be retained at all times for such purpose. 
 
Reason: To ensure that on street parking of vehicles in the adjoining streets/roads does not 
occur and that appropriate parking is provided in accordance with Policy DM8. 
 
3. Prior to the occupation of any of the proposed dwellings, the existing private track at its 
junction with Chequers Road shall be constructed to a minimum width of 5.5 metres shall be 

Page 23



 

 

retained at that width for 6 metres within the site and shall be provided with an appropriate 
vehicular crossing. 
 
Reason:  To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a controlled manner and 
to ensure that opposing vehicles can pass clear of the limits of the highway, in the interests of 
highway safety in accordance with policy DM1. 
 
4. No unbound material shall be used in the surface treatment of the vehicular access within 6 
metres of the highway boundary. 
 
Reason: To avoid displacement of loose material onto the highway in the interests of highway 
safety in accordance with policy DM1. 
 
5. Prior to the occupation of the development one informal passing place (size: 3 metres x 10 
metres) shall be surfaced and provided at the fork of public footpath 5. 
 
Reason: To make adequate provision within the private track for the additional traffic generated 
by the proposed development allowing vehicles to pass and re-pass in accordance with policy 
DM1. 
 
6. Prior to the occupation of the development the private track from Chequers Road up to the 
fork of the public footpath 5 shall be widened by an additional 200mm (8 inches) and a 1.2-
metre-wide section will be surfaced with a limestone surface dressing using timber edging on 
both sides of the path for this entire section of the public right of way for that section that shares 
the route with this part of the private track only.  
 
Reason: To ensure the continued safe passage of the public on the definitive right of way and 
accessibility in accordance with Policies DM1 and DM11. 
 
7. The public's rights and ease of passage over public footpath no. 5 (Little Bromley_157) shall 
be maintained free and unobstructed at all times. 
 
Reason: To ensure the continued safe passage of the public on the definitive right of way and 
accessibility in accordance with Policies DM1 and DM11. 
 
The above conditions are to ensure that the proposal conforms to the relevant policies 
contained within the County Highway Authority's Development Management Policies, adopted 
as County Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011. 
 

 
 

Environmental Protection   16.10.2023 
 
With reference to the above application, please see below for comments from the EP Team: 
 
Construction Activities:  In order to minimise potential nuisance caused by 
demolition/construction works, Environmental Protection recommend that the following hours 
and actions be adhered to, should the application be approved;  
 
o No vehicle connected with the works to arrive on site before 07:30 or leave after 19:00 (except 
in the case of emergency). Working hours to be restricted between 08:00 and 18:00 Mondays 
to Saturdays (finishing at 13:00 on Saturdays) with no working of any kind permitted on 
Sundays or any Public/Bank Holiday whilst construction works and alterations are being carried 
out. 
 

Page 24



 

 

o No materials produced as a result of the site development or clearance shall be burned on 
site.  
 
Adherence to the above condition will significantly reduce the likelihood of public complaint and 
potential enforcement action by Pollution and Environmental Control. The condition gives the 
best practice for Demolition and Construction sites. Failure to follow them may result in 
enforcement action under nuisance legislation (Environmental Protection Act 1990), or the 
imposition of controls on working hours (Control of Pollution Act 1974). 
 
REASON: to protect the amenity of nearby residential premises 
 
Contaminated Land:  Given the sites surrounding areas historical use for agriculture, we are 
requesting a Watching Brief be conditioned (on any subsequent approval) and adhered to 
throughout the demolition and construction phase. We request that the LPA are contacted in 
the event of unexpected ground conditions being encountered during construction and that the 
below minimum precautions are undertaken until such time as the LPA responds to the 
notification. I would also advise that the developer is made aware that the responsibility for the 
safe development of the site lies with them. 
 
Minimum requirements for dealing with unexpected ground conditions being encountered 
during construction. 
 
1. All site works at the position of the suspected contamination will stop and the Local Planning 
Authority and Environmental Health Department will be notified as a matter of urgency. 
2.  A suitably trained geo-environmental engineer should assess the visual and olfactory 
observations of the ground and the extent of contamination and the Client and the Local 
Authority should be informed of the discovery. 
3. The suspected contaminated material will be investigated and tested appropriately in 
accordance with assessed risks.  The investigation works will be carried out in the presence of 
a suitably qualified geo-environmental engineer.  The investigation works will involve the 
collection of solid samples for testing and, using visual and olfactory observations of the ground, 
delineate the area over which contaminated materials are present.  
4. The unexpected contaminated material will either be left in situ or be stockpiled (except if 
suspected to be asbestos) whilst testing is carried out and suitable assessments completed to 
determine whether the material can be re-used on site or requires disposal as appropriate.  
5. The testing suite will be determined by the independent geo-environmental specialist based 
on visual and olfactory observations.  
6. Test results will be compared against current assessment criteria suitable for the future use 
of the area of the site affected.  
7. Where the material is left in situ awaiting results, it will either be reburied or covered with 
plastic sheeting.  
8. Where the potentially contaminated material is to be temporarily stockpiled, it will be placed 
either on a prepared surface of clay, or on 2000-gauge Visqueen sheeting (or other 
impermeable surface) and covered to prevent dust and odour emissions.  
9. Any areas where unexpected visual or olfactory ground contamination is identified will be 
surveyed and testing results incorporated into a Verification Report. 
10. A photographic record will be made of relevant observations.  
11. The results of the investigation and testing of any suspect unexpected contamination will 
be used to determine the relevant actions.  After consultation with the Local Authority, materials 
should either be: o re-used in areas where test results indicate that it meets compliance targets 
so it can be re-used without treatment; or o treatment of material on site to meet compliance 
targets so it can be re-used; or o removal from site to a suitably licensed landfill or permitted 
treatment facility.  
12. A Verification Report will be produced for the work. 
 

Page 25



 

 

REASON: It is the responsibility of the developer to ensure the safe development of the site 
and to carry out any appropriate land contamination investigation and remediation works. The 
condition is to ensure the risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors 
 
Asbestos: Should any asbestos containing materials be present on the development site, or 
used within the original construction of the building in question, it must be safely removed by a 
qualified contractor, with relevant transfer notes being obtained to confirm safe and responsible 
removal and disposal. 
 
REASON: to ensure that any risks (to future users of the land and neighbouring land and to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems) arising from any land contamination are 
minimised and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable 
risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.  
 
*INFORMATIVE -   Foul Drainage:  The submitted Planning Statement advises a Sewerage 
Treatment Plant will be utilised as a way of disposing of foul waste; we would request, should 
the application be approved, that the Applicant / Agent, ensure the installation is fully compliant 
with the Environment Agency's Binding Rules and any other relevant Government guidance 
and British standards, in respect of these systems.  Information on this can be found at: Septic 
tanks and treatment plants: permits and general binding rules: The general binding rules - 
GOV.UK (www.gov.uk).  It is strongly recommended these rules are complied with, as they will 
minimise any potential nuisance to nearby residential dwellings, assist in preventing a potential 
Public Health nuisance, and minimise the potential for adverse incidents, of which may result 
in formal enforcement action. 
 
REASON: to protect the health of residents and nearby residential premises. 

 

Essex County Council Heritage   06.12.2023 
 
The application is for proposed erection of two dwellings. (in lieu of prior approval for the 
conversion of an agricultural building into two dwellings 23/00549/COUNOT). This should be 
read as an addendum to my previous advise issued on 3rd November 2023. 
 
The removal of the previously proposed balcony represent an improvement, however the 
revised scheme does not address the main concern about the overly residential character of 
the proposed dwelling. 
 
It is noted that the current proposal is very similar to the scheme approved under Part 3, Class 
Q, and this is considered the fallback position, however the extant consent is for the conversion 
of the existing barn. As such, it is understandable that the design is limited by the constrains of 
the existing structure. Moreover, we were not consulted at the previous stage as this was 
approved under Part 3, Class Q and therefore, no concerns have been raised regarding the 
proposed external materials and the overly residential design. 
 
As it is now proposed to demolish the existing barn, there is the potential for a new development 
within the setting of the identified heritage asset to look for opportunities to enhance or better 
reveal its significance, as stated in Paragraph 206 of the NPPF. 

 
5. Representations 

 
 5.1 Little Bromley Parish Council have not provided any comments on the application. 
 
 5.2 There have been no other letters of representation received. 

Page 26



 

 

6. Assessment 
 

     Site Description 
  

6.1  The application site relates to the land at Braham Hall Farm, which is approximately 350 metres 
to the east of Bentley Road. There are four agricultural buildings on site, previously used for 
agricultural purposes but currently unoccupied at the time of the site visit, with the two buildings 
subject of this planning application sited to the northern and southern ends. 

 
6.2  The property at Braham Hall is approximately 80 metres from the agricultural buildings. This is 

a Grade II Listed Building within its own defined residential curtilage and is in separate ownership 
and is a separate plot from the application site. The buildings subject of this application are not 
considered to be curtilage listed. 

 
6.3  The site falls outside of a recognised Settlement Development Boundary within the adopted 

Local Plan 2013-2033. The character of the area is largely rural, with large areas of grassed and 
agricultural land located further out to all sides. There is, however, sporadic built form to the 
west. 

 
  Site History 
 
6.4  Under planning reference 23/00549/COUNOT, prior approval permission was granted in June 

2023 for the conversion of the agricultural buildings subject of this planning application, as well 
as the two agricultural buildings sited adjacent to the north-east and north-west, into four 
dwellings. This was allowed as assessed against Class Q of the Town & Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order (2015). Within the determination of this 
application the Council did not express any concern on the grounds for consideration of the 
notification application, namely access, noise, contamination, flooding, location, design or 
natural light. 

 
6.5  The prior approval permission specifically allowed the following: 
 
  Barn A (the unit to the south of the site) measured 606sqm and was to be converted to two 

dwellings, each measuring 203sqm. 
 
  Barn B (the unit to the west of the site) measured 142sqm and was to be converted into one 

dwelling measuring 100sqm. 
 
  Barn D (the unit to the east of the site) currently measured 95sqm and was to be converted into 

one dwelling measuring 78sqm. 
 
  In addition, Barn C (the unit to the north of the site) is an existing cartlodge that is proposed to 

provide parking spaces for the development. 
 
  The supporting Planning Statement confirms that works have now commenced, which Officers 

agree with following the undertaking of a site visit. 
 
  Description of Proposal 
 
6.6  This application seeks full planning permission for the replacement of one of the agricultural 

buildings approved under 23/00549/COUNOT for two dwellings (Barn A), with the erection of 
two dwellings. The proposal would represent an alternative development to the Prior Approval 
for two dwellings subject of application 23/00549/COUNOT. 

 

Page 27



 

 

6.7  The additional conversion of the buildings located to the east and west of the site (Barns B and 
D) are separately being carried out in accordance with the plans shown within 
23/00549/COUNOT and therefore do not form part of this current application. 

 
  Principle of Development 
 
6.8  Planning law requires that decisions on planning applications must be taken in accordance with 

the development plan unless there are material considerations that indicate otherwise (section 
70(2) of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act and section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). The development plan for Tendring Council comprises of the 
adopted Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond Sections 1 and 2.   

 
6.9  Policy SP3 of Section 1 of the 2013-2033 Local Plan sets out the spatial strategy for North Essex 

and directs growth towards existing settlements. The application site lies outside of the defined 
settlement boundary of Little Bromley within the adopted 2013-2033 Local Plan. The proposed 
development would therefore extend outside the area planned to provide growth for this 
settlement. In view of the housing land supply position, the Council does not need to look beyond 
identified settlements to meet its housing requirement. 

 
6.10 Policy SPL2 supports new development within defined Settlement Development Boundary's 

(SDB) which would encourage sustainable patterns of growth and carefully control urban sprawl. 
Within a defined SDB, there will be a general presumption in favour of new development subject 
to detailed consideration against other relevant Local Plan policies and any approved 
Neighbourhood Plans. 

 
6.11 The proposal therefore results in conflict with policies SP3 and SPL2. In this case, however, the 

principle of residential development on this site has been established through the prior approval 
consent granted under planning permission 23/00549/COUNOT in June 2023. The current 
proposal represents an alternative design and siting to the previously granted permission, which 
is considered to form a material consideration in respect of the application and denotes what is 
considered to be a viable fall-back position as outlined below. 

 
  Fallback Position - Material Consideration 
 
6.12 It is established in case law that permitted development rights can legitimately represent a fall-

back position when considering alternative proposals for development of the same site and this 
was the case for the previous planning approval. 

 
6.13 In summary, the relevant legal principles relating to the fall-back position were set out in R v 

Secretary of State for the Environment and Havering BC (1998) EnvLR189. In that case Mr 
Lockhart-Mummery QC, sitting as a Deputy High Court Judge, accepted submissions that there 
were three elements to the fall-back test: 

 
6.14 “First whether there is a fall-back use, that is to say whether there is a lawful ability to undertake 

such a use; secondly, whether there is a likelihood or real prospect of such occurring. Thirdly if 
the answer to the second question is "yes" a comparison must be made between the proposed 
development and the fall-back use." 

 
6.15 The notion of Class Q providing a lawful fall-back position was subsequently and 

comprehensively dealt with at the landmark Court of Appeal case, Mansell vs Tonbridge and 
Malling Borough Council [2017], which concluded that a realistic fall-back position in regard to 
Class Q would amount to a material consideration in the determining of an application.   

 
6.16 The table below provides a comparison between the original prior approval and the new dwelling 

proposed under this application: 
 

Page 28



 

 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.17 In conclusion, having regard to the above, the application is considered to meet all three tests 

set out for a viable fall-back position in terms of the legal position set out earlier. There is a fall-
back use in the form of the prior approval and it is considered that the proposed development, 
is, in the main, comparable to that approved under the prior approval.   

 
6.18 As outlined above in the comparison table, Plot 4 is slightly relocated approximately 2.5 metres 

to the east, however this is not considered to be a significant increase, particularly when taking 
into consideration the height, floorspace and number of bedrooms remaining the same. 

 
6.19 Therefore, given the circumstances of this case, along with the legal position and the prior 

approval fall-back position, the principle of development for a new dwelling on this site is 
considered to be acceptable subject to the detailed consideration against other relevant Local 
Plan policies. 

 
  Visual Impacts 
 
6.20 Paragraph 135 of the NPPF states that the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable 

buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which 
to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities.   

 
6.21 Policy SP7 states that all new development should respond positively to local character and 

context to preserve and enhance the quality of existing places and their environs.  Policy SPL3 
seeks to provide new development which is well designed and maintains or enhances local 
character and distinctiveness. The development should relate well to its site and surroundings 
particularly in relation to its siting, height, scale, massing, form, design and materials and should 
respect or enhance local landscape character, views, skylines, landmarks, existing street 
patterns, open spaces and other locally important features. 

 
6.22 The site is located in a largely rural area, although there are examples of built form within the 

immediate vicinity and slightly beyond to the west. Within the initial submitted drawings, 
concerns were raised that the design created a more urbanised appearance with the inclusion 
of balconies, however following discussions with the agent for the application these have since 
been removed. The design and appearance of the building, including use of materials, is 
therefore in-keeping with that approved within 23/00549/COUNOT, and Officers also note the 
footprint is of a similar level and there are no net increase of dwellings. Taken as a whole, 

  23/00549/COUNOT  
(Prior Approval) 

23/01418/FUL 
(Current Application) 

Siting To the southern section 
of the collection of 
agricultural buildings. 

In the same location to the 
southern section of the 
collection of agricultural 
buildings, although the 
eastern of the two plots is 
relocated approximately 2.5 
metres to the east. 

Access Via a proposed access 
point to the north-west 
of the site. 

Via a proposed access point 
to the north-west of the site. 

Appearance Horizontal cladding, 
zinc roof and brick plinth 

Horizontal cladding, zinc 
roof and brick plinth 

Floorspace 406sqm 406sqm 

Eaves Height 5.6m 5.6m 

Ridge Height 7.9m 7.9m 

No. Beds Both 4 beds Both 4 beds 

Page 29



 

 

including the gardens proposed, the dwellings are considered to maintain the rural character of 
the locality. 

 
6.23 Policy LP4 requires that new residential developments will be expected to provide for private 

amenity space of a size and configuration that meets the needs and expectations of residents 
and which is commensurate to the size of dwelling and the character of the area. The plans 
show that this is comfortably adhered to. 

 
  Impact to Neighbouring Amenities 
 
6.24 The NPPF, at paragraph 135 states that development should create places that are safe, 

inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of 
amenity for existing and future users. Policy SP7 of the Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 
requires that all new development protects the amenity of existing and future residents and users 
with regard to noise, vibration, smell, loss of light, overbearing and overlooking. 

 
6.25 There are residential properties located adjacent to the north-east and north-west of the 

dwellings, as approved under 23/00549/COUNOT, as well as Braham Hall to the south-west. 
However, given that the design and scale of the dwellings are very similar to that previously 
granted prior approval, there is not considered to be any additional impact to the amenities of 
neighbouring properties. Moreover, Braham Hall is located a significant distance apart, thereby 
further reducing any potential impacts. 

 
  Heritage Impacts 
 
6.26  Paragraph 208 of the NPPF states that where a development will lead to less than substantial 

harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against 
the public benefits of the proposal. 

 
6.27  The application site is located to the north-east of Braham Hall, a Grade II Listed Building. ECC 

Heritage initially raised concerns with the design of the dwellings, particularly features such as 
balconies and canopies that contributed to a more residential appearance. Following this, 
amended drawings were provided to remove the proposed balconies. ECC Heritage, upon re-
consultation, expressed continued concerns about the residential character of the proposed 
dwelling. 

 
6.28  Officers acknowledge the concerns raised by ECC Heritage, suggesting that the proposal, while 

similar to the previously approved scheme under Part 3, Class Q, represents an opportunity to 
better enhance the setting of the Grade II Listed Building. However, it is important to note that 
significant weight must be given to the prior approval granted within 23/00549/COUNOT, which 
the agent has confirmed has since been implemented. 

 
6.29  The design of the proposed scheme is near identical to the prior approval, and Officers argue 

that it would not be reasonable to raise an objection based solely on the grounds of heritage 
impacts. The design modifications made, including the removal of balconies, aim to address 
specific concerns raised by ECC Heritage. Additionally, the prior approval consent itself was 
granted after thorough consideration, indicating that the heritage impacts were previously 
deemed acceptable and consistent judgement should be applied while recognising the 
difference in application type. 

 
6.30  Given that the design of the two schemes is near identical, and the prior approval has been 

implemented, Officers do not consider that it would be reasonable to set aside the prior approval 
and raise objections solely on the grounds of heritage impacts. Notwithstanding the consistency 
position, the development does represent less than substantial harm.  The public benefit derived 
from housing provision, economic growth, design is considered to outweigh the harm and/or any 
perceived harm to the heritage asset. 

Page 30



 

 

  Highway Safety 
 
6.31 Paragraph 114 of the National Planning Policy Framework seeks to ensure that safe and suitable 

access to a development site can be achieved for all users. Paragraph 115 of the Framework 
states that Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there 
would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the 
road network would be severe. 

 
6.32 Policy SPL3 (Part B) of the Adopted Local Plan seeks to ensure that access to a new 

development site is practicable and the highway network will be able to safely accommodate the 
additional traffic the proposal will generate and provision is made for adequate vehicle and cycle 
parking. Adopted Local Plan Policy CP2 states proposals will not be granted planning permission 
if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impact 
on the road network would be severe. 

 
6.33 Essex Highways Authority have been consulted and have stated that from a highway and 

transportation perspective the impact of the proposal is acceptable subject to conditions relating 
to the storage of building materials, the access width, the use of no unbound materials, a passing 
place, surfacing of the public footpath, and no obstruction to the footpath. 

 
6.34 Furthermore, the Council's Adopted Parking Standards require that for a dwelling with two or 

more bedrooms that a minimum of two parking spaces are required. Parking spaces should 
measure 5.5m x 2.9 metres. The submitted plans show that parking will be within a cartlodge 
that is being converted to the north of the dwellings, which was also approved within the Prior 
Approval application as a cartlodge. No objections are raised in this regard. 

 
  Impact to Protected Species 
 
6.35 Paragraph 180 of the Framework states planning decisions should contribute to and enhance 

the natural and local environment, by minimising impacts and providing net gains for biodiversity. 
Paragraph 186(a) of the NPPF confirms that in assessing planning applications where significant 
harm to biodiversity as a result of a development cannot be avoided, adequately mitigated or, 
as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused. 

 
6.36 Adopted Policy SP7 requires that all new development should incorporate biodiversity creation 

and enhancement measures. Adopted Policy SPL3 Part A(d) includes that the design and layout 
of development should maintain or enhance ecological value. 

 
6.37 ECC Place Services (Ecology) have been consulted on the application and initially confirmed 

that they were not satisfied sufficient ecological information was available for the determination 
of the application, as the demolition of the agricultural building had the potential to impact upon 
bats if potential roosting features are present. Furthermore, the site lies within an Amber Risk 
Zone for Great Crested Newt, with one potentially suitable waterbody adjacent to the site. 

 
6.38 Given the above, a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal was recommended to be provided to show 

an adequate assessment of the proposal and in order to inform whether there is a need for 
further, more detailed, surveys to be undertaken, as well as a Preliminary Roost Assessment for 
potential roost features for bats. 

 
6.39 However, in response to this, the agent for the application has highlighted that the building is in 

the process of being dismantled together with extensive operations to the remainder of the 
structure and overall site following the granting of Prior Approval consent in June 2023, and then 
also provided additional photographs of the building. Following this, ECC Ecology have 
confirmed that upon review of these photographs they note that the barn subject of demolition 
does not have potential for roosting bats and are now therefore satisfied the Local Planning 

Page 31



 

 

Authority has sufficient ecological information to determine the application. They now raise no 
objections subject to a condition relating to a biodiversity enhancement strategy. 

 
  Foul Drainage 
 
6.40 Paragraph 180 of the Framework states that planning policies and decisions should contribute 

to and enhance the natural and local environment by preventing new development from 
contributing to unacceptable levels of water pollution. Furthermore, Paragraph 191 of the 
Framework states that planning policies and decisions should also ensure that new development 
is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects of pollution on the natural 
environment. 

 
6.41 Paragraph: 020 of the National Planning Policy Guidance states that where a connection to a 

public sewage treatment plant is not feasible a package sewage treatment plant can be 
considered. The package sewage treatment plant must comply with the Small sewage 
discharges in England: general binding rules 2015 (GBR), or a permit will be required. Package 
sewage treatment plants may only be considered if it can be clearly demonstrated by the 
applicant that discharging into a public sewer is not feasible (taking into account cost and/or 
practicability and whether the package treatment plant poses a risk to a designated site) in 
accordance with Approved Document H of the Building Regulations 2010. A completed Foul 
Drainage Assessment Form 1 (FDA1) form, or equivalent information, should accompany all 
planning applications where use of a non-mains system is proposed for foul drainage. The 
operation of small sewage discharges such as those from septic tanks or package treatment 
plants is regulated under the Environmental Permitting Regulations 2016 (EPR). 

 
6.42 Adopted Policy PPL5 of Section 2 of the Adopted Local Plan states that all new development 

must make adequate provision for drainage and sewerage. Private sewage treatment facilities 
will not be permitted if there is an accessible public foul sewer. Where private sewage treatment 
facilities are the only practical option for sewage disposal, they will only be permitted where there 
would be no harm to the environment, having regard to preventing pollution of groundwater and 
any watercourses and odour. 

 
6.43 The application form accompanying the application has stated that the development would be 

connected to a package water treatment plant. This does not adhere to the above local and 
national policy requirements which seek to connect new development to an existing public foul 
sewer, however Officers are content that it would not be feasible to do so on this occasion. 

 
6.44 In considering the acceptability of the proposed non-mains drainage, the site is not close to any 

designated site of importance to biodiversity, nor is it located within close proximity to any 
watercourse. The site is not located within a Drinking Water Safeguard Zone or a Source 
Protection Zone, and the site is sufficiently large enough to accommodate a soakaway. 
Furthermore, flows from a treatment plant serving two dwellings served by four bedrooms would 
be very low. Taking all these factors into account, and the absence of a mains connection in 
close proximity to the site, the proposed foul drainage arrangements are considered to be 
acceptable. 

 
  Financial Contributions – Recreational Disturbance 
 
6.45 Under the Habitats Regulations, a development which is likely to have a significant effect or an 

adverse effect (alone or in combination) on a European designated site must provide mitigation 
or otherwise must satisfy the tests of demonstrating 'no alternatives' and 'reasons of overriding 
public interest'. There is no precedent for a residential development meeting those tests, which 
means that all residential development must provide mitigation. 

 
6.46 The application scheme proposes a residential use on a site that lies within the Zone of Influence 

(ZoI) being approximately 3.8 kilometres from the Stour and Orwell Estuaries SPA and Ramsar. 

Page 32



 

 

New housing development within the ZoI would be likely to increase the number of recreational 
visitors to these sites and in combination with other developments it is likely that the proposal 
would have significant effects on the designated site. Mitigation measures must therefore be 
secured prior to occupation. 

 
6.47 The applicant is in the process of completing a Unilateral Undertaking to secure the required 

contribution in accordance with the above policies and regulations. 
 
  Financial Contributions - Open Space and Play Space 
 
6.48 Paragraph 55 of the National Planning Policy Framework states Local Planning Authorities 

should consider whether otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable 
through the use of conditions or planning obligations. Paragraph 57 of the NPPF states planning 
obligations must only be sought where they are necessary to make the development acceptable 
in planning terms, directly relate to the development and fairly and reasonably relate in scale 
and kind to the development. 

 
6.49 In line with the requirements of Section 2 Policy HP5 the Council's Open Space Team have 

been consulted on the application to determine if the proposal would generate the requirement 
for a financial contribution toward public open or play space. The outcome of the consultation is 
that there is currently a deficit of 0.23 hectares of equipped play and 0.46 hectares of formal 
open space in Little Bromley, however no contribution is requested on this occasion. 

   
Renewable and Energy Conservation Measures 

 
6.50 Paragraph 116 of the Framework states that applications for development should be designed 

to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles (ULEV) in safe, accessible 
and convenient locations. However, recent UK Government announcements that ULEV 
charging points will become mandatory for new development have yet to be published. 

 
6.51 Policies PPL10 and SPL3, together, require consideration be given to renewable energy 

generation and conservation measures. Proposals for new development of any type should 
consider the potential for a range of renewable energy generation solutions, appropriate to the 
building(s), site and its location, and be designed to facilitate the retro-fitting of renewable energy 
installations. 

 
6.52 The application is supported by a Water, energy and resource efficiency measures document, 

which outlines a series of renewable efficiency measures to be incorporated within the scheme. 
As such it is not considered reasonable to include a planning condition requesting any further 
details on this occasion. 

 
7. Conclusion 

 
7.1 The proposed demolition of an existing agricultural building and its replacement with two 

dwellings is acceptable in principle following the previous prior approval granted on the site for 
a dwelling under planning reference 23/00549/COUNOT. 

 
7.2 Whilst the proposal is located within proximity to a Grade II Listed Building and ECC Heritage 

have raised concerns that the proposal does not enhance the setting of this heritage asset, the 
design is very similar to that previously approved (and implemented) within 23/00549/COUNOT. 
Officers therefore do not consider it reasonable to raise an objection on these grounds. 
Furthermore, there is not considered to be significant harm to neighbouring amenities or the 
character of the area, whilst there is sufficient parking provision. ECC Highways also raise no 
objections. 

 

Page 33



 

 

7.3 Whilst ECC Ecology initially raised concerns due to a lack of Preliminary Ecological Assessment 
provided, following the submission of additional information and photographs they have 
removed those concerns. Accordingly, the application is considered to be policy compliant and 
is recommended for approval. 

 
8. Recommendation 

 
8.1 The Planning Committee is recommended to grant planning permission subject to the following 

conditions and informatives, and the prior completion of a section106 legal agreement with the 
agreed Heads of Terms, as set out in the table below: 

 

CATEGORY TERMS 

Financial contribution towards 
RAMS. 

£156.76 x 1no. dwelling 
(index linked) 

 

 
8.2 Conditions and Reasons 

 
1 COMPLIANCE REQUIRED: COMMENCEMENT TIME LIMIT   
 

CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.    

 
REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  

  
NOTE/S FOR CONDITION: 

 
The development needs to commence within the timeframe provided.  Failure to comply with 
this condition will result in the permission becoming lapsed and unable to be carried out.  If 
commencement takes place after the time lapses this may result in unlawful works at risk 
Enforcement Action proceedings.  You should only commence works when all other conditions 
requiring agreement prior to commencement have been complied with. 
 

2 CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
drawings/documents listed below and/or such other drawings/documents as may be approved 
by the Local Planning Authority in writing pursuant to other conditions of this permission or such 
drawings/documents as may subsequently be approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority as a non-material amendment following an application in that regard (except for Listed 
Building Consents).  Such development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
any Phasing Plan approved, or as necessary in accordance with any successive Phasing Plan 
as may subsequently be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
commencement of development pursuant to this condition.       

 
Drawing Numbers 1074_A_SC_01-03, 1074_A_SC_03-04, the documents titled 'Water, energy 
and resource efficiency measures', 'Klargester BioDisc Domestic Sewage Treatment Plant', 
'Electric Vehicle Charging', 'Access Details', and the untitled Site Location Plan received dated 
11th October 2023. 

 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper phased planning of the 
development. 

 
NOTE/S FOR CONDITION: 

 
The primary role of this condition is to confirm the approved plans and documents that form the 
planning decision.  Any document or plan not listed in this condition is not approved, unless 

Page 34



 

 

otherwise separately referenced in other conditions that also form this decision.  The second 
role of this condition is to allow the potential process of Non Material Amendment if found 
necessary and such future applications shall be considered on their merits.  Lastly, this condition 
also allows for a phasing plan to be submitted for consideration as a discharge of condition 
application should phasing be needed by the developer/s if not otherwise already approved as 
part of this permission. A phasing plan submission via this condition is optional and not a 
requirement.              

 
Please note in the latest revision of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) it provides 
that Local Planning Authorities should seek to ensure that the quality of approved development 
is not materially diminished between permission and completion, as a result of changes being 
made to the permitted scheme (for example through changes to approved details such as the 
materials used).  Accordingly, any future amendment of any kind will be considered in line with 
this paragraph, alongside the Development Plan and all other material considerations.   

 
Any indication found on the approved plans and documents to describe the plans as 
approximate and/or not to be scaled and/or measurements to be checked on site or similar, will 
not be considered applicable and the scale and measurements shown shall be the approved 
details and used as necessary for compliance purposes and/or enforcement action. 

 
3 CONDITION: No development above slab level shall take place until there has been submitted 

to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of hard, soft and boundary 
treatment landscaping works for the site, which shall include any proposed changes in ground 
levels.   

 
REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance of the area. 

 
NOTE/S FOR CONDITION: 

 
Slab level is normally refers to the concrete slab supported on foundations or directly on the 
subsoil and is used to construct the ground floor of the development.  In any other case, please 
assume slab level to be the point before any walls and/or development can be visually above 
ground level or seek confirmation from the Local Planning Authority for your development.     

 
Should the landscape works include any new hedgerow, please consider the following planting 
for a native hedge.  Native hedge: 50% hawthorn, 25% blackthorn (but beware – this can spread 
into adjacent fields), 15% field maple, 2% holly, 2% wild privet, 2% guelder rose, 2% dog rose, 
2% buckthorn. 

 
4 CONDITION: All changes in ground levels, soft/hard landscaping shown on the approved 

landscaping details shall be carried out in full during the first planting and seeding season 
(October – March inclusive) following the commencement of the development, or in such other 
phased arrangement as may be approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority up to the 
first use/first occupation of the development.  Any trees, hedges, shrubs or turf identified within 
the approved landscaping details (both proposed planting and existing) which die, are removed, 
seriously damaged or seriously diseased, within a period of 10 years of being planted, or in the 
case of existing planting within a period of 5 years from the commencement of development, 
shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and same species unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
REASON: To ensure that the approved landscaping scheme has sufficient time to establish, in 
the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance of the area. 

 
5 CONDITION: Prior to the first occupation of the development the areas within the site identified 

for the purpose of loading/unloading/reception and storage of materials and manoeuvring shall 
be retained thereafter and remain free of obstruction except for the purpose of 

Page 35



 

 

loading/unloading/reception and storage of materials and manoeuvring and used for no other 
purpose.  Any other area within the site outlined in red not identified shall not be used as 
loading/unloading/reception and storage of materials and manoeuvring areas. 

 
REASON: To ensure that appropriate loading / unloading facilities are available in the interest 
of highway safety.  

 
6 CONDITION: Prior to first use the existing private track at its junction with Chequers Road shall 

be constructed to a minimum width of 5.5 metres for a distance of at least 6 metres measured 
from the nearby edge of the carriageway and shall then thereafter be retained.  

 
REASON: In the interests of highway safety to ensure vehicles can enter and leave the site in a 
safe manner ensuring opposing vehicles can pass in the interest of highway safety.   

 
NOTE/S FOR CONDITION: 

  
Carriageway is the part of a road intended for vehicles rather than pedestrians normally define 
by kerb if available or edge of a bound surface.  It is an OFFENCE to carry out works within the 
public highway, which includes a Public Right of Way, without the permission of the ECC 
Highway Authority.  Any conditions which involve work within the limits of the public highway do 
not give the applicant permission to carry them out.  Unless otherwise agreed in writing all works 
within the public highway shall be carried out by Essex County Council or its agents at the 
applicant's expense. 

 
7 CONDITION:  The access hereby approved shall have a bound material surface and shall be 

laid out for a minimum distance of 5 metres from the edge of the carriageway prior to first use.  
The bound material as implemented shall then be retained thereafter.  

 
REASON: In the interests of highway safety to prevent hazards caused by loose materials on 
the highway. 

 
NOTE/S FOR CONDITION: 

 
Carriageway is the part of a road intended for vehicles rather than pedestrians normally define 
by kerb if available or edge of a bound surface.  It is an OFFENCE to carry out works within the 
public highway, which includes a Public Right of Way, without the permission of the ECC 
Highway Authority.  Any conditions which involve work within the limits of the public highway do 
not give the applicant permission to carry them out.  Unless otherwise agreed in writing all works 
within the public highway shall be carried out by Essex County Council or its agents at the 
applicant’s expense. 

 
8 CONDITION: Prior to the occupation of the hereby approved development, one informal passing 

place (3metres x 10 metres) shall be surfaced and provided at the fork of public footpath 5. This 
shall then be retained in this form thereafter.  

 
REASON: To make adequate provision within the private track for the additional traffic generated 
by the proposed development allowing vehicles to pass and re-pass. 

 
9 CONDITION: Prior to the occupation of the hereby approved development, the private track from 

Chequers Road up to the fork of the public footpath 5 shall be widened by an additional 200mm 
(8 inches) and a 1.2-metre-wide section will be surfaced with a limestone surface dressing using 
timber edging on both sides of the path for this entire section of the public right of way. 

 
REASON: To ensure the continued safe passage of the public on the definitive right of way and 
accessibility. 

 

Page 36



 

 

10 CONDITION: The public's rights and ease of passage over public footpath no. 5 (Little 
Bromley_157) shall be maintained free and unobstructed at all times.  

 
REASON: To ensure the continued safe passage of the public on the definitive right of way and 
accessibility. 

 
11 CONDITION: Notwithstanding details received, prior to first occupation of the hereby approved 

development, a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for protected and Priority species shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The content of the 
Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following: 

 
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures; 
b) detailed designs or product descriptions to achieve stated objectives; 
c) locations, orientations, and heights of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps 
and plans; 
e) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures; 
f) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant). 

 
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to occupation 
and shall be retained in that manner thereafter. 

 
REASON: To enhance protected and Priority species and habitats. 

 
12 CONDITION: Prior to the commencement of development details of the construction 

methodology and timetable shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority. This shall incorporate the following information:-   

 
a) Details of the hours of work/construction of the development within which such operations 
shall take place and the hours within which delivery/collection of materials for the said 
construction shall take place at the site.   
b) Details of the loading/unloading/storage of construction materials on site, including details of 
their siting and maximum storage height.   
c) Details of how construction and worker traffic and parking shall be managed. This shall include 
routing of all traffic and any directional signs to be installed and where. 
d) Details of any protection measures for footpaths and trees surrounding the site.  
e) Details of any means of access to the site during construction.   
f) Details of the scheduled timing/phasing of development for the overall construction period.  
g) Details of measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction, and including 
details of any wheel washing to be undertaken, management and location it is intended to take 
place.  
h) Details of the siting of any on site compounds and portaloos.  
i) Details of the method of any demolition to take place, including the recycling and disposal of 
said materials resulting from demolition.   
j) Site waste management plan (that shall include reuse and recycling of materials) 
k) Scheme for sustainable construction management to ensure effective water and energy use.   
l) Scheme of review of complaints from neighbours. 
m) Registration and details of a Considerate Constructors Scheme  
n) Details on the provision, location and management of any show home/s or reception, including 
opening times, parking and advertisements (including flags and directional signs).  

 
The said methodology as may be approved shall be implemented in its entirety and shall operate 
as may be approved at all times during construction.     

 
REASON: To minimise detriment to nearby residential and general amenity by controlling the 
construction process to achieve the approved development. This condition is required to be 
agreed prior to the commencement of any development as any construction process, including 

Page 37



 

 

site preparation, by reason of the location and scale of development may result adverse harm 
on amenity. 

 
NOTE/S FOR CONDITION: 
You are strongly advised to discuss this condition with the Local Planning Authority and if 
possible/available local residents likely to be affected by this development prior to submission 
of details. 

 
13 CONDITION: If during construction/demolition works evidence of potential contamination is 

encountered, works shall cease, and the site fully assessed to enable an appropriate 
remediation plan to be developed. Works shall not re-commence until an appropriate 
remediation scheme has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority and the remediation has been completed.  

 
Upon completion of the building works, this condition shall not be discharged until a closure 
report has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
closure report shall include details of; 

 
a) Details of any sampling and remediation works conducted and quality assurance certificates 
to show that the works have been carried out in full in accordance with the approved 
methodology.  

 
b) Details of any post-remedial sampling and analysis to show the site has reached the required 
clean-up criteria shall be included in the closure report together with the necessary 
documentation detailing what waste materials have been removed from the site.  

 
c) If no contamination has been discovered during the build, then evidence (e.g. photos or letters 
from site manager) to show that no contamination was discovered should be included.  

 
REASON - To ensure that any risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised. 

 
14 CONDITION: Notwithstanding Section 55 (2)(a)(ii) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

as amended and the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015, (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification):- no enlargement, improvement, insertion of new openings or other alteration of 
the dwellinghouse(s) shall be carried out,  except pursuant to the grant of planning permission 
on an application made in that regard. 

  
REASON: To enable the Local Planning Authority to retain control over the development in the 
interests of the amenity of the locality and to safeguard local distinctiveness. 

 
15 CONDITION: Notwithstanding Section 55 (2)(a)(ii) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

as amended and the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015, (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification):-  no garage, car port, fence, gate, wall or any other means of enclosure, building 
or structure shall be erected except pursuant to the grant of planning permission on an 
application made in that regard. 

 
REASON: To enable the Local Planning Authority to retain control over the development in the 
interests of the amenity of the locality and to safeguard local distinctiveness. 
 

8.3 Informatives  
 

Positive and Proactive Statement: 
  

Page 38



 

 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this application 
by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including planning policies and 
any representations that may have been received and subsequently determining to grant 
planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, 
as set out within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Highways Informatives: 

  
i. All work within or affecting the highway is to be laid out and constructed by prior arrangement 
with and to the requirements and specifications of the Highway Authority; all details shall be 
agreed before the commencement of works.  

  
ii. The applicants should be advised to contact the Development Management Team by email 
at development.management@essexhighways.org  

  
iii. The Public Right of Way network is protected by the Highways Act 1980. Any unauthorised 
interference with any route noted on the Definitive Map of PROW is considered to be a breach 
of this legislation. The public's rights and ease of passage over public footpath no. 5 (Little 
Bromley_157) shall be maintained free and unobstructed at all times to ensure the continued 
safe passage of the public on the definitive right of way.  

  
iv. The granting of planning permission does not automatically allow development to commence. 
In the event of works affecting the highway, none shall be permitted to commence until such 
time as they have been fully agreed with this Authority. The applicant should be advised to 
contact the Public Rights of Way team regarding public footpath 5 by email at 
PROWPlanning@essexhighways.org prior to works starting on the private track. 

  
v. The Highway Authority cannot accept any liability for costs associated with a developer's 
improvement. This includes design check safety audits, site supervision, commuted sums for 
maintenance and any potential claims under Part 1 and Part 2 of the Land Compensation Act 
1973. To protect the Highway Authority against such compensation claims a cash deposit or 
bond may be required. 
 

9. Additional Considerations  
 

Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 
 

9.1 In making your decision you must have regard to the PSED under section 149 of the Equality 
Act 2010 (as amended). This means that the Council must have due regard to the need in 
discharging its functions to: 
 

9.2 A. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited 
by the Act; 

9.3 B. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. This may include removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by persons 
who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; taking 
steps to meet the special needs of those with a protected characteristic; encouraging 
participation in public life (or other areas where they are underrepresented) of people with a 
protected characteristic(s); and 

9.4 C. Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who 
do not, including tackling prejudice and promoting understanding. 
 

9.5 The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, being married or in a civil partnership, race including colour, nationality and ethnic or 
national origin, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 
 

Page 39



 

 

9.6 The PSED must be considered as a relevant factor in making this decision but does not impose 
a duty to achieve the outcomes in section 149 and section 149 is only one factor that needs to 
be considered, and may be balanced against other relevant factors. 
 

9.7 It is considered that the recommendation to grant permission in this case would not have a 
disproportionately adverse impact on a protected characteristic. 

 
Human Rights 

  
9.8 In making your decision, you should be aware of and take into account any implications that 

may arise from the Human Rights Act 1998 (as amended). Under the Act, it is unlawful for a 
public authority such as the Tendring District Council to act in a manner that is incompatible with 
the European Convention on Human Rights. 
 

9.9 You are referred specifically to Article 8 (right to respect for private and family life), Article 1 of 
the First Protocol (protection of property) and Article 14 (right to freedom from discrimination).  
 

9.10 It is not considered that the recommendation to grant permission in this case interferes with local 
residents' right to respect for their private and family life, home and correspondence or freedom 
from discrimination except insofar as it is necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of others 
(in this case, the rights of the applicant). The Council is also permitted to control the use of 
property in accordance with the general interest and the recommendation to grant permission is 
considered to be a proportionate response to the submitted application based on the 
considerations set out in this report. 

 
Finance Implications 

 
9.11 Local finance considerations are a matter to which local planning authorities are to have regard 

in determining planning applications, as far as they are material to the application. 
 

9.12 The New Homes Bonus (NHB) is one local finance consideration capable of being a material 
consideration to which the weight given shall be determined by the decision maker.  The NHB 
is a payment to local authorities to match the Council Tax of net new dwellings built, paid by 
Central Government over six consecutive years.  In this instance, it is not considered to have 
any significant weight attached to it that would outweigh the other considerations. 

 
10. Background Papers  
 

10.1 In making this recommendation, officers have considered all plans, documents, reports and 
supporting information submitted with the application together with any amended 
documentation. Additional information considered relevant to the assessment of the application 
(as referenced within the report) also form background papers. All such information is available 
to view on the planning file using the application reference number via the Council’s Public 
Access system by following this link https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-applications/. 

 
 

 

Page 40

https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-applications/


 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

15 FEBRUARY 2024 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PLANNING 
 

A.3 PLANNING APPLICATION – 23/01601/FUL – THE NAZE PENINSULAR OLD HALL LANE 
WALTON ON THE NAZE CO14 8LG 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DO NOT SCALE  
© Crown Copyright and database right 2024. Ordnance Survey Licence No.100018684. 
 

 
 

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 

 
Application: 23/01601/FUL Expiry 

Date: 
4th January 2024 

 
Case Officer: Michael Pingram EOT Date: 22nd February 2024 
 
Town/ Parish: Frinton & Walton Town Council 
 
Applicant: Mr Michael Cross - Tendring District Council 
 
Address: The Naze Peninsular Old Hall Lane Walton On The Naze, CO14 8LG   
  
Development: Proposed modification to access arrangement to allow access to foreshore as 

result of erosion. 
 

 
1. Executive Summary 

 
1.1 The application is referred to Planning Committee as the applicant and owner of the site is 

Tendring District Council. 
 

1.2 The application seeks a modification to the access arrangement following the planning 
permission previously granted on site under reference 21/01450/FUL in October 2021, due to 
ongoing erosion works impacting that previously approved. The works are in support of wider 
works fundamentally designed to improve coastal defences and stabilise the coast, and are 
supported in principle.  

 
1.3 ECC Highways have raised no objections, and while the works will result in a small level of visual 

harm to a site within a Coastal Protection Belt, they are essential to ensure public safety. 
Furthermore, following the submission of additional ecological information, ECC Ecology raise 
no objections, and no harm to neighbouring amenities has been identified. 

 

Recommendation: Approval 
  
1) That the Head of Planning and Building Control be authorised to grant planning permission 

subject to the conditions as stated at paragraph 8.2, or varied as is necessary to ensure 
the wording is enforceable, precise, and reasonable in all other respects, including 
appropriate updates, so long as the principle of the conditions as referenced is retained; 
and, 
 

1) The informative notes as may be deemed necessary. 
 

 
2. Planning Policy 

 
The following Local and National Planning Policies are relevant to this planning application. 
 
National:  
National Planning Policy Framework 2023 (NPPF) 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
Local:  
Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond North Essex Authorities' Shared Strategic 
Section 1 Plan (adopted January 2021): 
 

Page 42



 

 

SP1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
SP7 Place Shaping Principles 
 
Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond Section 2 (adopted January 2022): 
 
SPL3 Sustainable Design 
PPL2 Coastal Protection Belt 
PPL1 Development and Flood Risk 
PPL3 The Rural Landscape 
PPL4 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
PPL4 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
CP1 Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
 
Local Planning Guidance: 
Essex County Council Car Parking Standards - Design and Good Practice 
Essex Design Guide 
 
Status of the Local Plan 
 
Planning law requires that decisions on applications must be taken in accordance with the 
development plan unless there are material considerations that indicate otherwise (Section 70(2) of 
the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act and Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004).  This is set out in Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the 
Framework).  The ‘development plan’ for Tendring comprises, in part, Sections 1 and 2 of the 
Tendring District Council 2013-33 and Beyond Local Plan (adopted January 2021 and January 2022, 
respectively), supported by our suite of evidence base core documents 

(https://www.tendringdc.uk/content/evidence-base) together with any neighbourhood plans that 
have been brought into force. 
 
Neighbourhood Plans 
 
A neighbourhood plan introduced by the Localism Act that can be prepared by the local community 
and gives communities the power to develop a shared vision for their area. Neighbourhood plans 
can shape, direct and help to deliver sustainable development, by influencing local planning 
decisions as part of the statutory development plan to promote development and uphold the strategic 
policies as part of the Development Plan alongside the Local Plan.  Relevant policies are considered 
in the assessment. Further information on our Neighbourhood Plans and their progress can be found 
via our website https://www.tendringdc.uk/content/neighbourhood-plans 
  

3. Relevant Planning History 
       
 21/01450/FUL Proposed installation of temporary 

measures such as sand filled bags 
as groynes, gabions to cliff face, and 
clay fill to earth embankment to slow 
down/prevent coastal erosion 

Approved 
 

29.10.2021 

 
4. Consultations 

 
Below is a summary of the comments received from consultees relevant to this application proposal. 
Where amendments have been made to the application, or additional information has been 
submitted to address previous issues, only the latest comments are included below. 
 
All consultation responses are available to view, in full (including all recommended conditions and 
informatives), on the planning file using the application reference number via the Council’s Public 
Access system by following this link https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-applications/. 

Page 43

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.tendringdc.uk%2Fcontent%2Fevidence-base&data=05%7C01%7Cmwilson%40tendringdc.gov.uk%7Cfe99a576ab30424e8e8d08db82bdfe7b%7C85a13c52693e4c39bdfa85c3a9047d15%7C0%7C0%7C638247524754585286%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=fgMrg2xeE8%2BWuVHhWQzG8l0eYvfWmc4s9UK2jFmGgqA%3D&reserved=0
https://www.tendringdc.uk/content/neighbourhood-plans
https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-applications/


 

 

 

ECC Highways Dept   27.11.2023 
 
The information that was submitted in association with the application has been considered by 
the Highway Authority and conclusions have been drawn from a desktop study with the 
observations below based on the submitted material. No site visit was undertaken in 
conjunction with this planning application. The northern section of Old Hall Lane is not adopted 
and is classed as a private road. The proposals are similar to an earlier application 
(21/01450/FUL) that was approved in 2021. It is noted that the route involves crossing the 
public footpath which passes along the formal see wall, (footpath number 39), however, the 
crossing of the footpath will be very infrequent and will be undertaken in the company of a 
banks- man, with all crossings giving priority to the use of any members of the public. The 
PROW team have confirmed that this is likely to impact on the England Coast Path route while 
the works are taking place but appreciate it will be much more severely affected if the works 
are not carried out, for this reason the proposals are supported. The supporting information 
indicates that there will be up to 6 persons regularly working on site carrying out the works, a 
number of these persons will be local, with occasional visiting persons; while the vehicle 
movements will be scheduled to avoid travelling through Walton on the Naze at peak times, 
taking these factors into account: 
 
From a highway and transportation perspective the impact of the proposal is acceptable to 
Highway Authority subject to the following mitigation and conditions: 
 
1. No works shall take place, including any ground works or demolition, until a Construction 
Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 
authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The Plan 
shall provide for:                                                                                                              
i. vehicle routing, 
ii. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors,  
iii. loading and unloading of plant and materials,  
iv. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development,  
v. wheel and underbody washing facilities. 
 
Reason: To ensure that on-street parking of these vehicles in the adjoining streets does not 
occur and to ensure that loose materials and spoil are not brought out onto the highway in the 
interests of highway safety and Policy DM1. 
 
2. The public's rights and ease of passage over public footpath no.39 (Frinton and Walton_164) 
shall be maintained free and unobstructed at all times. 
 
Reason: To ensure the continued safe passage of the public on the definitive right of way and 
accessibility in accordance with Policies DM1 and DM11. 
 
3. No works shall take place until temporary signage is put in place either side of public footpath 
no.39 at the proposed crossing point to warn walkers and drivers that plant and/or walkers will 
be crossing at this point. 
 
Reason: To ensure the continued safe passage of pedestrians on the public right of way and 
accessibility in accordance with Policies DM1 and DM11. 
 
4. Prior to the commencement of any work on the site a joint inspection of the highway/PROW 
to be used by construction vehicles should be carried out by the applicant and the Highway 
Authority, to include photographic evidence.   The route should then be inspected again, after 
completion of the development, and any damage to the route resulting from traffic movements 
generated by the application site should be repaired to an acceptable standard and at no cost 
to the Highway Authority.                                                                                                                   

Page 44



 

 

Reason: To preserve the integrity and fabric of the definitive right of way and accessibility in 
accordance with Policies DM1 and DM11. 
 
The above conditions are to ensure that the proposal conforms to the relevant policies 
contained within the County Highway Authority's Development Management Policies, adopted 
as County Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011. 

 

Natural England   15.12.2023 
 
Thank you for your consultation dated 20 November 2023. The following constitutes Natural 
England's formal statutory response. 
 
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and The 
Conservation of Offshore Marine Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) 
 
We can confirm that the proposed works are located within Hamford Water SAC, SPA and 
Ramsar sites. 
 
Likely significant effect, appropriate assessment required 
Natural England's advice is that this proposed development may contain (or require) measures 
intended to avoid or reduce the likely harmful effects on a European Site, which cannot be 
taken into account when determining whether or not a plan or project is likely to have a 
significant effect on a site and requires an appropriate assessment (noting the recent People 
Over Wind Ruling by the Court of Justice of the European Union). 
 
For this reason, we advise that on the basis of the information supplied that the application may 
have a likely significant effect on these sites. These measures therefore need to be formally 
checked and confirmed by your Authority, as the competent authority, via an appropriate 
assessment, in accordance with the Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended). 
 
These measures and any further mitigation measures can be considered during an appropriate 
assessment, to determine whether a plan or project will have an adverse effect on the integrity 
of the European site. 
 
Natural England advises that it is a matter for your Authority to decide whether an appropriate 
assessment of this proposal is necessary in light of the People Over Wind ruling. In accordance 
with the Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), Natural England 
must be consulted on any appropriate assessment your Authority may decide to make. 
 
Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 
The works, as set out in the information supplied by the applicant, are not sited within or near 
to a Marine Conservation Zone. Natural England have not identified a pathway by which 
impacts from the development would affect the interest features of the site(s). We are therefore 
confident that the works will not hinder the conservation objectives of such a site. 
 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) 
We can confirm that the proposed works are located adjacent to The Naze SSSI and within 
Hamford Water SSSI. Natural England advises that an updated ecological assessment is 
provided in order to assess the impacts of accessing the foreshore on the SSSI sites, the 
Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) referred to in document number TDC012/03/19 not 
available to view. 

 

Environment Agency   08.12.2023 
 

Page 45



 

 

We have reviewed the documents as submitted and have no objection to this proposal. 
However, we recommend that a planning condition is included within this application. Without 
this condition included, we would object to the proposal. Further details on Flood Risk, and the 
condition we wish to be included, can be found below. 
 
Flood Risk 
 
Planning Condition 
 
Condition 
Prior to commencement and at the cessation of the works, an inspection will be carried out at 
the flood defence to examine the condition of the assets before and after the works. Any 
damage that occurs during construction must be put right at the cost of the applicant to the 
satisfaction of the Environment Agency. 
 
Reason for Condition 
 
To ensure that the structural integrity of the already existing sea defence is retained throughout 
the duration of the works and will therefore continue to function effectively. 
 
Any disturbed areas need to be appropriately reinstated, and therefore require this proposed 
condition as part of the planning response. 
 
Advice to applicant: Environmental Permitting for Flood Risk Activities 
 
A Flood Risk Activity Permit (FRAP) will not be required for these works. This is because the 
Tendring District Council (TDC) is a Protected Undertaker carrying out a flood risk management 
function under the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. Under the Environmental 
Permitting Regulations 2016 Schedule 25 Part 1, Paragraph 3, Sub-paragraph (3) Protected 
Undertakers do not require a Flood Risk Activity Permit for flood risk activities (d) to (k). As 
these works fall into flood risk activities (d) to (k), a FRAP is not required. 

 

Environmental Protection   27.11.2023 
 
I have reviewed the above application and the construction method statement states that the 
work will use minimal plant and will take place in daylight hours. With consideration to the 
urgency of the works I can confirm that EP have no comments to make.  
 
Please note however that if the works are likely to use more heavy machinery and/or is going 
to operate outside the core construction hours (outside of 08.00 to 18.00 Monday to Friday or 
18.00 - 12.00 on Saturday and any time on a Sunday) and likely to cause a noise disturbance 
then the applicant my want to consider applying for a section 61 consent under the control of 
pollution act 1974. 

 

Essex County Council Ecology   13.12.2023 
 
Thank you for re-consulting Place Services on the above application. 
 
No objection subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures. 
 
Summary 
 
Further to our comments on the 11th December 2023, we have reviewed the Ecological Report 
Updates 2023 (Ecology Link, October 2023) relating to the likely impacts of development on 
designated sites, protected and Priority species & habitats and identification of appropriate 
mitigation measures. 

Page 46



 

 

 
We note that the site lies within the Hamford Water SPA, Ramsar and SSSI, as shown on Magic 
Maps (https://magic.defra.gov.uk/) so therefore the LPA must consult Natural England 
regarding the potential impacts and likely risks to this statutory designated site. 
We note that the Ecological Report Updates 2023 (Ecology Link, October 2023) highlights that 
a number of site visits have taken place and that habitats across the site have remained stable 
and no significant change in plant communities or management have occurred. 
 
Therefore, we are now satisfied that there is sufficient ecological information available for 
determination of this application. 
 
This provides certainty for the LPA of the likely impacts on designated sites, protected and 
Priority species & habitats and, with appropriate mitigation measures secured, the development 
can be made acceptable. 
 
The mitigation measures identified in the Ecological Report Updates 2023 (Ecology Link, 
October 2023), which contains an ecological method statement, and the Outline Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (Hestur Ltd., 2023) should be secured by a condition of any 
consent and implemented in full. This is necessary to conserve and enhance protected and 
Priority species particularly Fisher's Estuarine Moth (in relation to Hog's Fennel), reptiles, and 
nesting birds. 
 
We also support reasonable biodiversity enhancements, which are recommended to secure 
net gains for biodiversity, as outlined under Paragraph 174d of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2023). The reasonable biodiversity enhancement measures should be outlined 
within a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy and should be secured by a condition of any 
consent. 
 
This will enable LPA to demonstrate its compliance with its statutory duties including its 
biodiversity duty under s40 NERC Act 2006. 
 
Impacts will be minimised such that the proposal is acceptable, subject to the conditions below 
based on BS42020:2013. 
 
We recommend that submission for approval and implementation of the details below should 
be a condition of any planning consent. 
 
Recommended Conditions 
 
1. ACTION REQUIRED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ECOLOGICAL APPRAISAL 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
"All mitigation measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance with the details 
contained in the Ecological Report Updates 2023 (Ecology Link, October 2023) and Outline 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (Hestur Ltd., 2023) as already submitted with 
the planning application and agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to 
determination. 
This may include the appointment of an appropriately competent person e.g. an ecological clerk 
of works (ECoW) to provide on-site ecological expertise during construction. The appointed 
person shall undertake all activities, and works shall be carried out, in accordance with the 
approved details." 
 
Reason: To conserve and enhance protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to 
discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 
(Priority habitats & species). 
 

Page 47



 

 

2. PRIOR TO ANY WORKS ABOVE SLAB LEVEL: BIODIVERSITY ENHANCEMENT 
STRATEGY 
"A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for protected and Priority species shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following: 
 
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures; 
b) detailed designs or product descriptions to achieve stated objectives; 
c) locations, orientations, and heights of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate 
maps and plans; 
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures; 
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant). 
 
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to occupation 
and shall be retained in that manner thereafter." 
 
Reason: To enhance protected and Priority species & habitats and allow the LPA to discharge 
its duties under the NPPF 2023 and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). 

 
5. Representations 

  
 5.1  Frinton and Walton Town Council have not provided any comments on the application. 
 
 5.2  There have been no other letters of representation received. 
 

6. Assessment 
 

Site Description 
 

6.1  The application site is land located to the north of Walton-on-the-Naze at the Naze Peninsula, 
at the point where the land and sea meet. The site is an open parcel of land located outside of 
a recognised Settlement Development Boundary within the adopted Local Plan 2013-2033. 
Ownership of the site belongs to Tendring District Council, and the existing nearby flood wall is 
the responsibility of the Environment Agency. The area around the planning application site 
comprises of public open space adjacent to the coastline. 

 
6.2  The site is within a designated Coastal Protection Belt, and also within Flood Zones 2 and 3. 

There are no residential dwellings in the immediate locality, with the nearest being approximately 
650 metres to the south. Furthermore, the area is protected by a national designation as a Site 
of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) ‘The Naze’ to the south and John Weston Nature Reserves 
and The Naze Nature Reserve. A footpath (number 39) runs adjacent to the coastline in the 
local area. 

 
6.3  The area to the southwest of the formal flood wall also consists of Local and National Nature 

Reserves including John Weston Nature Reserve. The area provides important habitat to 
migratory birds, and rare flora and fauna. This is recognised with the foreshore, mudflats, 
saltmarsh, tidal ponds and area to the immediate southwest of the host site as an internationally 
designation, known as the Hamford Water (SPA) Special Protection Area, Hamford Water 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and the site is also known as a RAMSAR location again 
internationally designated. 

 
  Site History 
 
6.4  In October 2021, a planning application was recommended for approval by the Planning 

Committee (reference 21/01450/FUL) for the installation of temporary measures such as sand 

Page 48



 

 

filled bags as groynes, gabions to cliff face, and clay fill to earth embankment to slow 
down/prevent coastal erosion. The specific works were as follows: 

 

• Location 1: This is the Short Wall, some 250m north of the storage compound and 400m 
west of the other coastal work locations. It was proposed to reinstate the profile of the 
wall by infilling the erosion that had occurred to its core and to reinstate the external 
slopes. It was not proposed to extend the wall, simply restore its integrity.  
 

• Location 2: It was proposed to install five new groynes using Soiltain (sand filled) bags. 
The sand would be transported into the area via road, stored at the compound area and 
moved to the beach via low pressure dump trucks. The three groynes closest to the sea 
wall would be 15m long and the two furthest out would be 20m long. The typical bag 
measured some 1.5m wide and 0.5m in height. The overall site area given was 25m in 
width and 125m in length. 

 

• Location 3: This extends along the base of the cliff for 75m. The proposed works involved 
the installation of gabion baskets at the toe of the cliff, which were filled with rock brought 
into the area by road. Additionally, concrete from the loss of the sea wall and collapsed 
path was to be broken up and placed behind the gabion baskets, to provide additional 
robustness to the gabions whilst also clearing up the foreshore. The gabions measured 
2 metres in height and consisted of three sections forming a stepped nature opposite the 
cliff toe.  

 

• Location 4: This is the storage compound and access route to the work areas. The 
storage compound area measured some 40 metres by 30 metres. Within this area was 
to be a temporary staff compound 4.9m (l) x 2.74m (w) x 2.5m (h), in blue, known as the 
‘Ecologic 250’. This was to house a toilet and small canteen, and lockers. The site 
compound was to be enclosed with Herras fencing. 

 
  Description of Proposal 
 

6.5  This application seeks planning permission for the modification to the access arrangement 
previously approved within 21/01450/FUL to allow access to the foreshore, as a result of erosion. 

 
6.6  Following the granting of planning permission in October 2021, ongoing erosion has resulted in 

the loss of part of the length of the route the access arrangement was granted consent to make 
(referred to as Location 4 above). Previously, the access route connected via the end of Old Hall 
Lane to the foreshore before turning through 90 degrees east to a historic ramp. However, 
erosion has now meant that the access effectively stops at the foreshore point, and therefore 
this proposal is for the re-instatement of a ramp to allow access to the foreshore, so that works 
at Locations 1 and 2 can be undertaken, whilst also ensuring the continued maintenance of the 
works already carried out at Location 3. The ramp will also provide access to the foreshore by 
others carrying out their duties in connection with the various nearby designated areas of special 
importance, and allow for emergency access.  

 
6.7 The compound and access route from the end of Old Hall Lane to the foreshore will remain 

exactly as per the consent granted in October 2021. 
 

  Principle of Development 
 

6.8  The National Policy Planning Framework (2023) sets out within paragraphs 176 to 179 the 
policies for the protection of areas at risk from coastal change. As the proposed works are in 
support of wider works fundamentally designed to improve coastal defences and stabilise the 
coast, the works fall within the remit of what is permitted to take place in such places.  

 

Page 49



 

 

6.9  The area is located within a sensitive landscape for ecological, geological and recreational 
reasons. However, the works are proposed by Tendring District Council in relation to their 
responsibility for coastal protection. By protecting the sea wall from further damage, the 
proposals will protect the surrounding farmland, Anglian Water sewage treatment works that 
serves the surrounding population and other assets, namely Hamford Saltmarshes, which 
includes part of the SPA and Ramsar site. The justification is accepted, although Officers accept 
there will be a modest level of deterioration to the visual amenity of the area. Given this, Officers 
consider that the principle of development is acceptable.   

 
  Highway Safety 

 
6.10 Paragraph 114 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2023) seeks to ensure that safe and 

suitable access to a development site can be achieved for all users. Paragraph 115 of the 
Framework states that Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds 
if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts 
on the road network would be severe. 

 
6.11 Policy SPL3 (Part B) of the Adopted Local Plan seeks to ensure that access to a new 

development site is practicable and the highway network will be able to safely accommodate the 
additional traffic the proposal will generate and provision is made for adequate vehicle and cycle 
parking. Adopted Local Plan Policy CP2 states proposals will not be granted planning permission 
if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impact 
on the road network would be severe. 

 
6.12 Essex Highways Authority have been consulted, and have noted the route involves crossing the 

public footpath which passes along the formal sea wall, (footpath number 39), however, the 
crossing of the footpath will be very infrequent and will be undertaken in the company of a banks-
man, with all crossings giving priority to the use of any members of the public. Given this, that 
the number of workers on site will be limited to six, some of which will be local, and vehicle 
movements will be scheduled to avoid travelling through Walton on the Naze at peak times, they 
consider that from a highway and transportation perspective the impact of the proposal is 
acceptable, however do recommend conditions relating to a Construction Management Plan, 
the public footpath and temporary signage. 

 
6.13 The Public Right of Way (PROW) team have confirmed that this is likely to impact on the England 

Coast Path route while the works are taking place but appreciate it will be much more severely 
affected if the works are not carried out, and therefore support the proposal. 

 

  Impact to Coastal Protection Belt 
 

6.14 Adopted Policy PPL2 states that for development within the Coastal Protection Belt the Council 
will protect the open character of the undeveloped coastline and refuse planning permission for 
development which does not have a compelling functional or operational requirement to be 
located there. 

 
6.15 The proposal is in support of the works approved within 21/01450/FUL, which are essential for 

ensuring the continued effectiveness of the sea defence infrastructure. Also, the works would 
ensure protection of the sewage works and nature reserves nearby. In this case, the use of ‘soft 
engineering’ is not considered an appropriate measure due to the imminent threat of tidal 
flooding, and therefore the ‘hard’ revetments features are deemed essential to ensure public 
safety. As such, no objection to this policy is being raised. 

 

  Impact to Protected Species 
 

6.16 Paragraph 180 of the Framework (2023) states planning decisions should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment, by minimising impacts and providing net gains for 
biodiversity. Paragraph 186(a) of the NPPF confirms that in assessing planning applications 

Page 50



 

 

where significant harm to biodiversity as a result of a development cannot be avoided, 
adequately mitigated or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be 
refused. 

 
6.17 Adopted Policy SP7 requires that all new development should incorporate biodiversity creation 

and enhancement measures. Adopted Policy SPL3 Part A(d) includes that the design and layout 
of development should maintain or enhance ecological value. 

 
6.18 ECC Place Services (Ecology) have been consulted on the application, and initially raised a 

holding objection on the grounds that previous ecological information was out of date. In 
response, the agent for the application has provided an updated report, and upon re-consultation 
ECC Ecology are now satisfied that there is sufficient ecological information available for 
determination of this application, and raise no objections subject to conditions relating to 
mitigation measures and a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy. 

 
  Impact to Neighbouring Amenities 

 
6.19 The NPPF, at paragraph 135 states that development should create places that are safe, 

inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of 
amenity for existing and future users. Policy SP7 of the Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 
requires that all new development protects the amenity of existing and future residents and users 
with regard to noise, vibration, smell, loss of light, overbearing and overlooking. 

 
6.20 The nearest residential properties are located some 650 metres to the south, with the works 

themselves being of a limited nature. Given this, there will be a neutral impact to the existing 
amenities of neighbouring occupiers. 

 
7. Conclusion 

 
7.1 The application seeks a modification to the access arrangement following the planning 

permission previously granted on site under reference 21/01450/FUL in October 2021, due to 
ongoing erosion works impacting that previously approved. 

 
7.2 The proposed works are in support of wider works fundamentally designed to improve coastal 

defences and stabilise the coast, and are supported in principle. ECC Highways have raised no 
objections, and while the works will result in a small level of visual harm to a site within a Coastal 
Protection Belt, it is essential to ensure public safety. Furthermore, following the submission of 
additional ecological information, ECC Ecology raise no objections. 

 
7.2 The application is considered to comply with local and national planning policies and is therefore 

recommended for approval. 
 

8. Recommendation 
 

8.1 The Planning Committee is recommended to grant planning permission subject to the following 
conditions and informatives. 

 
8.2 Conditions and Reasons 

 
1 CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission.    
 

REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  

  
NOTE/S FOR CONDITION: 

Page 51



 

 

 
The development needs to commence within the timeframe provided.  Failure to comply with 
this condition will result in the permission becoming lapsed and unable to be carried out.  If 
commencement takes place after the time lapses this may result in unlawful works at risk 
Enforcement Action proceedings.  You should only commence works when all other conditions 
requiring agreement prior to commencement have been complied with. 

 
2 CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

drawings/documents listed below and/or such other drawings/documents as may be approved 
by the Local Planning Authority in writing pursuant to other conditions of this permission or such 
drawings/documents as may subsequently be approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority as a non-material amendment following an application in that regard (except for Listed 
Building Consents). Such development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
any Phasing Plan approved, or as necessary in accordance with any successive Phasing Plan 
as may subsequently be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
commencement of development pursuant to this condition.       

 
Drawing Numbers TDC01/03/19/100 Rev B, TDC01/03/19/110, TDC/01/03/19 – 200, the 
documents titled ‘Outline Construction Environmental Management Plan’ and ‘Ecological Report 
Updates 2023’, ‘Transport Statement’, and the untitled Site Location Plan received dated 13th 
November 2023. 

 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper phased planning of the 
development. 

 
NOTE/S FOR CONDITION: 

 
The primary role of this condition is to confirm the approved plans and documents that form the 
planning decision.  Any document or plan not listed in this condition is not approved, unless 
otherwise separately referenced in other conditions that also form this decision.  The second 
role of this condition is to allow the potential process of Non Material Amendment if found 
necessary and such future applications shall be considered on their merits.  Lastly, this condition 
also allows for a phasing plan to be submitted for consideration as a discharge of condition 
application should phasing be needed by the developer/s if not otherwise already approved as 
part of this permission.  A phasing plan submission via this condition is optional and not a 
requirement.              

 
Please note in the latest revision of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) it provides 
that Local Planning Authorities should seek to ensure that the quality of approved development 
is not materially diminished between permission and completion, as a result of changes being 
made to the permitted scheme (for example through changes to approved details such as the 
materials used).  Accordingly, any future amendment of any kind will be considered in line with 
this paragraph, alongside the Development Plan and all other material considerations.   

 
Any indication found on the approved plans and documents to describe the plans as 
approximate and/or not to be scaled and/or measurements to be checked on site or similar, will 
not be considered applicable and the scale and measurements shown shall be the approved 
details and used as necessary for compliance purposes and/or enforcement action. 

 
3 CONDITION: Prior to the first occupation of the hereby approved development, all mitigation 

and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance with the details 
contained in the Ecological Report Updates 2023 (Ecology Link, October 2023) and Outline 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (Hestur Ltd., 2023).  

 
REASON: In order to safeguard protected wildlife species and their habitats in accordance with 
the NPPF and Habitats Regulations. 

Page 52



 

 

 
4 CONDITION: Prior to first occupation of the hereby approved development, a Biodiversity 

Enhancement Strategy for protected and Priority species shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy 
shall include the following: 

 
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures; 
b) detailed designs or product descriptions to achieve stated objectives; 
c) locations, orientations, and heights of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps 
and plans; 
d) timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with the proposed phasing 
of development; 
e) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures; 
f) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant). 

 
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to occupation 
and shall be retained in that manner thereafter. 

 
REASON: To enhance protected and Priority species and habitats. 

 
8.3 Informatives  

 
Positive and Proactive Statement: 
  
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this application 
by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including planning policies and 
any representations that may have been received and subsequently determining to grant 
planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, 
as set out within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Highways Informatives: 
 
1: Note: It is unlikely that a temporary closure of the public footpath will be required, however, 
should the applicant need to apply to the TTRO Team (details on Essex Highways website) for 
a temporary diversion of the PROW during works in good time (currently a 12-week lead-in time). 
 
2: All work within or affecting the highway is to be laid out and constructed by prior arrangement 
with and to the requirements and specifications of the Highway Authority; all details shall be 
agreed before the commencement of works. The applicants should be advised to contact the 
Development Management Team by email at development.management@essexhighways.org 
 
3: Prior to the commencement of any work on the site a joint inspection of the route to be used 
by construction vehicles should be carried out by the applicant and the Highway Authority, to 
include photographic evidence. The route should then be inspected again, after completion of 
the development, and any damage to the highway resulting from traffic movements generated 
by the application site should be repaired to an acceptable standard and at no cost to the 
Highway Authority.  
  
The Highway Authority may also wish to secure a commuted sum for special maintenance to 
cover the damage caused to the existing roads used as access by vehicles servicing the 
application site. 
 
Given the location of the site, a haul route for the delivery of large-scale plant and materials may 
also be required. Should this prove to be necessary, any route or routes should be agreed in 
advance with the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority. 
 

Page 53

mailto:development.management@essexhighways.org


 

 

9. Additional Considerations  
 

Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 
 

9.1 In making your decision you must have regard to the PSED under section 149 of the Equality 
Act 2010 (as amended). This means that the Council must have due regard to the need in 
discharging its functions to: 
 

9.2 A. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited 
by the Act; 

9.3 B. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. This may include removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by persons 
who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; taking 
steps to meet the special needs of those with a protected characteristic; encouraging 
participation in public life (or other areas where they are underrepresented) of people with a 
protected characteristic(s); and 

9.4 C. Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who 
do not, including tackling prejudice and promoting understanding. 
 

9.5 The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, being married or in a civil partnership, race including colour, nationality and ethnic or 
national origin, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 
 

9.6 The PSED must be considered as a relevant factor in making this decision but does not impose 
a duty to achieve the outcomes in section 149 and section 149 is only one factor that needs to 
be considered, and may be balanced against other relevant factors. 
 

9.7 It is considered that the recommendation to grant permission in this case would not have a 
disproportionately adverse impact on a protected characteristic. 

 
Human Rights 

  
9.8 In making your decision, you should be aware of and take into account any implications that 

may arise from the Human Rights Act 1998 (as amended). Under the Act, it is unlawful for a 
public authority such as the Tendring District Council to act in a manner that is incompatible with 
the European Convention on Human Rights. 
 

9.9 You are referred specifically to Article 8 (right to respect for private and family life), Article 1 of 
the First Protocol (protection of property) and Article 14 (right to freedom from discrimination).  
 

9.10 It is not considered that the recommendation to grant permission in this case interferes with local 
residents' right to respect for their private and family life, home and correspondence or freedom 
from discrimination except insofar as it is necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of others 
(in this case, the rights of the applicant). The Council is also permitted to control the use of 
property in accordance with the general interest and the recommendation to grant permission is 
considered to be a proportionate response to the submitted application based on the 
considerations set out in this report. 

 
Finance Implications 

 
9.11 Local finance considerations are a matter to which local planning authorities are to have regard 

in determining planning applications, as far as they are material to the application. 
 

9.12 The New Homes Bonus (NHB) is one local finance consideration capable of being a material 
consideration to which the weight given shall be determined by the decision maker.  The NHB 
is a payment to local authorities to match the Council Tax of net new dwellings built, paid by 

Page 54



 

 

Central Government over six consecutive years.  In this instance, it is not considered to have 
any significant weight attached to it that would outweigh the other considerations. 

 
10. Background Papers  
 

10.1 In making this recommendation, officers have considered all plans, documents, reports and 
supporting information submitted with the application together with any amended 
documentation. Additional information considered relevant to the assessment of the application 
(as referenced within the report) also form background papers. All such information is available 
to view on the planning file using the application reference number via the Council’s Public 
Access system by following this link https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-applications/. 

 
 

 

Page 55

https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-applications/


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	5 Report of the Director (Planning) - A.1 - 23/01265/FUL - Coppins Hall Community Centre, Maldon Way, Clacton-on-Sea, CO16 7PA
	6 Report of the Director (Planning) - A.2 - 23/01418/FUL - Braham Hall Farm, Bentley Road, Little Bromley, CO11 2PS
	7 Report of the Director (Planning) - A.3 - 23/01601/FUL - The Naze Pennisular Old, Hall Lane, Walton-on-the-Naze, CO14 8LG

